

Public Health Association of Australia submission on the Queensland Government's health response to COVID-19

Contact for recipient:

Committee Secretary
Health, Communities, Disability Services and Domestic and Family Violence Prevention Committee
A: Parliament House, George St, Brisbane Qld 4000
E: health@parliament.qld.gov.au

Contact for PHAA:

Terry Slevin – Chief Executive Officer A: 20 Napier Close, Deakin ACT 2600 E: phaa@phaa.net.au T: (02) 6285 2373 3 July 2020

Contents

Introduction		4
PHAA Respons	se to the Inquiry Terms of Reference	4
Health econ	omic evaluation	4
Impacts on I	health care more broadly	6
Remote Indigenous communities		6
Training and	I role of public health professionals	7
Prioritisation	n of activities	8
Conclusion		9
References		10



The Public Health Association of Australia (PHAA) is recognised as the principal non-government organisation for public health in Australia working to promote the health and well-being of all Australians. It is the pre-eminent voice for the public's health in Australia.

The PHAA works to ensure that the public's health is improved through sustained and determined efforts of our Board, National Office, State and Territory Branches, Special Interest Groups and members.

We believe that health is a human right, a vital resource for everyday life, and a key factor in sustainability. Health equity and inequity do not exist in isolation from the conditions that underpin people's health. The health status of all people is impacted by the social, cultural, political, environmental and economic determinants of health. Specific focus on these determinants is necessary to reduce the unfair and unjust effects of conditions of living that cause poor health and disease. These determinants underpin the strategic direction of the Association.

Our mission as the leading national organisation for public health representation, policy and advocacy, is to promote better health outcomes through increased knowledge, better access and equity, evidence informed policy and effective population-based practice in public health. Members of the Association are committed to better health outcomes based on these principles.

Our vision is for a healthy population, a healthy nation and a healthy world, with all people living in an equitable society underpinned by a well-functioning ecosystem and a healthy environment, improving and promoting health and wellbeing for all.

The reduction of social and health inequities should be an over-arching goal of national policy, and should be recognised as a key measure of our progress as a society. Public health activities and related government policy should be directed towards reducing social and health inequity nationally and, where possible, internationally.

Introduction

PHAA welcomes the opportunity to provide input to the Health, Communities, Disability Services and Domestic and Family Violence Prevention Committee's Inquiry into the Queensland Government's health response to COVID-19. The pandemic has seen unprecedented global responses, with health, social and economic impacts which will continue to become apparent and be felt for some months and possibly years to come. It is important to understand the local impacts within Australia, and within Queensland, as the experience has been far from homogenous across the country.

This submission is focussed on the following: Health economic evaluation; Impacts on health care more broadly; Remote Indigenous communities and: Prioritisation of activities. It draws upon the recent PHAA submission to the Federal Senate Inquiry on Australia's response to COVID-19 (1) (see appendix 1 & 2).

PHAA Response to the Inquiry Terms of Reference

Health economic evaluation

1. Current reports on the health economic impact

We are starting to understand the effects of COVID-19 to Queensland's health economy. Reports of the various impacts to the Queensland health system and patients are starting to flow in. These suggest there are both positive and negative effects.

On the positive side, the following are identified:

- Prevention has worked Queensland continues to have very low numbers of coronavirus cases, intensive care unit patients and deaths. Queensland has largely avoided high numbers of coronavirus infections as a result of Queensland Government policies and public education initiatives within the collective National response.
- Telehealth has increased within primary care and hospitals Increased investment in IT systems in
 Queensland Health facilities to provide large scale telehealth services in addition to Federal
 government introduced Medicare item numbers for general practitioner, allied health, specialist
 virtual delivery of healthcare. With more than 7 million telehealth consultations nationally since
 COVID-19, the use of technology to support health care from a distance has been a crucial part of
 our response (2, 3).
- **Testing capacity has increased** Increased investment in equipment and staff to scale-up PCR testing for coronavirus cases.
- **Community services** were ramped up via the Care Army to support the elderly and vulnerable citizens in their homes providing care and help with groceries and medical purchases, and encouraging the elderly to not move around in the community (4).
- Queensland Health COVID-19 planning the Queensland government, especially Queensland Health and the hospitals, did an excellent job in preparing for a massive influx of patients. Significant resources were mobilised to support ongoing care of patients and preparedness for the pandemic, communications were prepared and new emergency protocols for potential COVID-19 patients were quickly installed (5, 6).

On the negative side however, there are concerns about the following:

- Delayed care of non-COVID patients particularly those with chronic and complex care with high service needs, pain services, rehabilitation care. This partly is from cancelled services and community fear of attending appointments (7). Examples include suspended regular health checks and screenings, colonoscopies and cancer diagnoses and treatments, people with chest pain not presenting to hospitals, and substantially lower (30-40%) Emergency Department attendances (8). Questions remain about the potential health losses among people with non-covid conditions. What are the missed treatment opportunities? Queensland Health, Health and Wellbeing Queensland, and the Primary Health Networks should ensure sufficient promotion and resources are devoted to non-COVID related health services.
- Potentially worsened health outcomes for those in the general community, and potentially those in the health care sector. What are the effects of isolation and lockdown on the quality of life of people who are now struggling with anxiety, depression, and uncertainty? How has the lockdown affected vulnerable populations such as those with pre-existing mental health problems and those with disabilities? A lot of elderly people will be scared, confused and isolated and there needs to be engagement and assessment of needs for this part of the community. Those in residential care will have different experiences and needs to those living in the community. Some people in the community were previously isolated and this would have been exacerbated in the past 4 months. The impacts on the health care sector also should be considered. Despite the small number of COVID-19 patients in Queensland hospitals there was a lot of stress among hospital staff in the build-up which should be recognised and responded to. Are there any lingering mental health concerns and what support measures are needed?
- **Potentially worsened health behaviours** there are indications that alcohol consumption has increased, and opportunities for physical activity may have been reduced; impact on diet quality is not known (2) (see appendix 2 page 4-5).
- Challenges to primary care delivery communication support for primary care services was challenging and hastily organised, and there were reports of PPE shortages occurring early in the pandemic (9). Despite telehealth MBS items being quickly implemented, there may be issues around quality of care, which should be clarified. For example, have there been increases in script writing over holistic patient care, or a lack of coordinated team-based care, which is often required for complex conditions.

2. Moving forward to ensure an efficient, patient-centred healthcare system

To better understand these issues, the Queensland Government should commission a comprehensive health economic evaluation of the Queensland Government's health response of COVID-19 and quantify the <u>public health implications</u>. Specifically, an evaluation of the costs and benefits to the <u>health sector</u> of the policy response will identify ways the policy response can be optimised (in the event of future similar outbreaks) and to identify public health policy options going forward.

Why is this necessary?

- It will provide a transparent account of the costs, cost-savings, health benefits and harms of the
 Queensland Government response and test alternative strategies that may have produced
 enhanced health outcomes
- It will inform policy and planning decisions to maximise population health, prevent disease, promote wellness and keep Queenslanders out of hospital.

Who would do this assessment?

A collaborative effort would be necessary to complete an evaluation in a timely manner. This would include Queensland Health staff, applied health economics and health services researchers working with clinicians, communities, and public health professionals. Health economic researchers are highly skilled at decision-analytic modelling and simulation and readily access clinical networks. Access to high-quality data from Queensland Health datasets will be necessary for this work.

What outcomes would there be?

This critical evaluation will:

- highlight major weaknesses in the health system and recommend cost-effective resource allocation
- address important questions such as: What health needs and healthcare utilisation have been deferred, and what will be the consequences of that in the post-COVID world? How have morbidity and mortality from non-COVID infectious diseases (and from non-infectious causes) been affected by isolation and lockdowns?
- address the implications for the health, health behaviours and quality of life of those for whom this period of enforced isolation has disrupted the delivery of essential services
- identify the behavioural responses to the crisis and how to strike the right balance between encouraging and compelling individuals to behave in a manner consistent with collective interests.

Impacts on health care more broadly

Due to the detection of COVID-19 cases in Queensland as early as January 2020, the Queensland state government was proactive and initiated an early public health emergency response and early expanded testing regimes. However, as stated in the PHAA submission to the Senate Inquiry on COVID-19 (PHAA 2020 p. 23):

...the development and roll-out of community COVID-19 testing services was not clearly articulated, and whilst it was pleasing to have the 'pneumonia/chest' clinics developed, the mechanism for access to these remains unclear.

The state of Queensland has a large and dispersed regional population which represents challenges for health care access at the best of times. During the recent periods of physical distancing as a result of COVID-19 the extent of social isolation of vulnerable populations was felt widely in Queensland. Looking forward, efforts should be made to maintain telehealth resources (as suggested above) to enable dispersed populations to maintain and initiate engagement with routine health and wellbeing checks including cancer screening and non-communicable disease support.

With regard to the management of PPE consideration should be given to the safe and sustainable disposal of PPE products going forward, including the investigation of the biodegradability of PPE.

Remote Indigenous communities

The following is taken from the recent PHAA submission to the Senate Inquiry on COVID-19 (PHAA 2020 p. 24-25), also relevant to the Queensland context (see attached appendix 1) (1):

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are at increased risk of severe disease from infections such as COVID-19, particularly those over the age of 50. In recognition of this, a number of specific mechanisms have been put in place to reduce the incidence of COVID-19 among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

The Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (ACCHO) sector advocated for travel restrictions limiting access to remote communities was instituted to prevent infections in these communities. Such travel restrictions were subsequently actioned by relevant governments.

PHAA commends the Government on convening the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory Group on COVID-19, co-chaired by the National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO) and the Department of Health, to develop and deliver a National Management Plan.

This has led to significant leadership, engagement and work from the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health sector with all governments. This includes 10% of GP Respiratory Clinics and testing sites being run from ACCHOs, to facilitate culturally safe access.

The genuine partnership approach has led to good outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities so far, with few cases of COVID-19. While breakdowns of official figures are difficult to find, anecdotally, Indigenous people are under-represented, perhaps accounting for as little as less than 1% of cases. This is an extraordinary and positive outcome, for a population group identified as highly vulnerable.

The coordinated, strategic approach from the ACCHO sector as early as February, well before COVID-19 was called a pandemic, has had many aspects which have contributed to the success. A number of resources, such as COVID-19 specific on-line modules for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health worker training, have been provided through NACCHOs and the Australian National University. Culturally appropriate messaging was also quickly developed and distributed, using the existing strong connections to communities, well before the Commonwealth messaging was produced. Additionally, the Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council of NSW, a jurisdictional affiliate of NACCHO, developed a Pandemic Toolkit specifically for ACCHOs in NSW. The focus of ACCHOs at jurisdictional and national level on public health is likely to have given them a strong starting point for responding to this crisis. A full evaluation to identify learnings is needed to fully understand this. The increased pressure on Indigenous organisations is notable, in particular the NACCHO and jurisdictional affiliates, and ACCHOs. Of note, the majority of remote communities do not have reliable access to internet resources, so that when available to them, these resources have been critical.

Government should:

- Increase ongoing support and funding to NACCHO and ACCHOs in recognition of the increased burden on Indigenous organisations in coping with health-related emergencies, reducing the government load and delivering appropriate information to Indigenous communities.
- Ensure Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander representation in advisory bodies to Federal and State governments.
- Provide funding for the evaluation of the response within Indigenous communities to identify lessons for future pandemic response

Training and role of public health professionals

The following is taken from the recent PHAA submission to the Senate Inquiry on COVID-19 (PHAA 2020 p. 7-8), also relevant to the Queensland context (see attached appendix 1) (1):

An adequately skilled and qualified workforce is needed to protect public health. This workforce was called on to underpin Australia's COVID-19 response – not only frontline clinicians, nurses and other allied health, but epidemiologists and other public health professionals also.

Federal investment in public health education has been reduced over the last decade, particularly with the loss of Public Health Education and Research Program (PHERP) funding. The Federal Government invested in a set of Foundation Competencies for Master of Public Health Graduates in Australia (10) however not all Australian public health degrees are based on these. The lack of accreditation seen in other degrees complicates this issue, reducing oversight.

The Government could increase public health knowledge requirements by requiring public health staff to have relevant public health qualifications and experience. For medical doctors, they should be public health medicine specialists, and other public health professionals should have qualifications in their particular fields. This is currently not the case consistently. Also, public health department surge capacity for an outbreak such as COVID-19 should be built on people with public health training. The value of public health expertise as a speciality must be enhanced.

Only a minority of state and territory Departments of Health run ongoing dedicated public health training programs. Training opportunities for medical and non-medical public health specialists are not consistently offered and run. More such programs in all state and territories, as well as Commonwealth level, are essential to ensure adequacy of future public health workforce.

The global and regional nature of public health is also directly relevant to public health education. Australia provides a significant amount of public health education and training for our region. The impact on international student numbers and the longer-term impacts of the reduction in international students is yet be seen, but it is likely that, over time, capacity to offer full public health degree programs and supervise students adequately will decrease as student numbers in courses decrease.

Interruption to this will have ramifications for our biosecurity with a reduction in public health education and expertise in our region. Australia benefits from strong public health training for those in less-developed countries (especially our neighbours) in terms of social justice but also our own country's vulnerability, as well as revenues accrued from training international postgraduate public health students.

Government should:

- Increase the number of public health training programs
- Ensure all public health staff, both employed and in surge capacity, should be formally trained in public health, rather than just a health-related discipline.
- Support expansion of higher degree training in public health, including international students

Prioritisation of activities

As detailed in the PHAA submission to the Senate Inquiry on COVID-19. The PHAA suggests:

- Sustained increased funding for public health at Federal and State and Territory levels.
- Support training and capacity building for the public health workforce.

- Establish an Australian independent designated public agency to provide scientific advice and education, and coordination assistance on communicable disease control, including all diseases of public health importance.
- The real living wage provided through JobSeeker must be retained to allow recipients to focus on attaining new jobs as the recovery progresses, instead of being plunged into poverty requiring a full time focus on basic survival needs.
- Services must be provided in recognition of the likely longer-term impacts of the pandemic.
- A healthy recovery is essential, recognising the links between human, economic and planetary health.
- Strong action on climate change, led by scientific advice, is required to address underlying vulnerabilities to pandemics including deforestation (making pandemics more likely to occur), and air pollution (making people more vulnerable to the effects of coronavirus). (PHAA 2020 p. 27) (see attached appendix 1) (1).

Conclusion

PHAA congratulates the Queensland State government and Queensland Health, specifically, on its sound response to COVID-19. We are particularly keen that the following points are highlighted:

- The need for support and training for the public health workforce.
- The need for an evaluation of the costs and benefits to the health sector of the policy response in order to identify ways the policy response can be optimised (in the event of future similar outbreaks) and to identify public health policy options going forward.
- The need to maintain telehealth resources to ensure that Queensland's dispersed population can maintain and initiate engagement with routine health and wellbeing checks including cancer screening and non-communicable disease support.
- Ensure Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander representation in advisory bodies to State governments.
- Provide funding for the evaluation of the response within Indigenous communities to identify lessons for future pandemic response.

The PHAA appreciates the opportunity to make this submission.

Please do not hesitate to contact us should you require additional information or have any queries in relation to this submission.

Terry Slevin

Chief Executive Officer

Public Health Association of Australia

Letitia Del Fabbro PHAA Branch President

how Julho.

Queensland

References

- 1. PHAA Public Health Association of Australia submission on COVID-19 https://www.phaa.net.au/documents/item/4622 [cited 2020 3 July].
- 2. MBS Online Department of Health. COVID-19 Temporary MBS Telehealth Services http://www.mbsonline.gov.au/internet/mbsonline/publishing.nsf/Content/Factsheet-TempBB: Ausrtalian Government; [updated 27 May 2020; cited 2020 3 July].
- 3. Telehealth and coronavirus: Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) activity in Australia https://coh.centre.uq.edu.au/telehealth-and-coronavirus-medicare-benefits-schedule-mbs-activityaustralia; [cited 2020 3 July].
- 4. Emergency volunteering. https://register.emergencyvolunteering.com.au/carearmy [cited 2020 3 July].
- 5. Queensland Health, Clinincal Excellence Queensland, COVID-19 Primary Care Frequently Asked Questions Topic Forest, https://www.health.qld.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0042/954789/covid-19-gp-faqs.pdf [cited 2020 3 July].
- 6. Queensland Government, Children's Health Queensland Hospital and Health Service https://www.childrens.health.qld.gov.au/qpec-covid-19/[cited 2020 3 July].
- 7. The Conversation. Even in a pandemic, continue with routine health care and don't ignore a medical emergency. https://theconversation.com/even-in-a-pandemic-continue-with-routinehealth-care-and-dont-ignore-a-medical-emergency-136246 [cited 2020 3 July].
- 8. Insight, COVID fears drive patients to avoid doctors, hospitals. https://insightplus.mja.com.au/2020/17/covid-19-avoiding-doctors-clinicians-brace-for-wave-ofsevere-illnesses/[cited 2020 3 July].
- 9. ABC News, March 25 2020, Health workers running out of coronavirus masks, protective gear as doctors call for urgent action https://www.abc.net.au/news/2020-03-25/coronavirus-queenslandppe-mask-shortage-doctors/12086562 [cited 2020 3 July].
- 10. Somerset S, Robinson P, Kelsall H, editors. Foundation competencies for public health graduates in Australia, 2nd edition. Canberra: Council of Academic Public Health Institutions Australia; 2016



Public Health Association of Australia submission on COVID-19

Contact for recipient:

Committee Secretary **A:** Department of the Senate
PO Box 6100, Parliament House
Canberra ACT 2600

E: covid.sen@aph.gov.au T: (02) 6277 3892

Contact for PHAA:

Terry Slevin – Chief Executive Officer A: 20 Napier Close, Deakin ACT 2600 E: phaa@phaa.net.au T: (02) 6285 2373 28 May 2020

Contents

Preamble	4
The Public Health Association of Australia	4
Vision for a healthy population	4
Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia	4
Introduction	5
Context	6
Assessing the response through the WFPHA lens	6
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)	6
Training and role of public health professionals	7
Equity	8
One Health	9
Response	10
Coordination between Governments	10
Communication issues	
Firearms	
Alcohol	
Racism	
Recovery	12
Australian CDC	12
Advisory bodies to Government	13
Responsive, inclusive, participatory and transparent decision making	15
Casual workers	16
Human rights	16
Climate change	16
Access to medicines, vaccines, tests and medical devices	17
Impacts on population groups and health issues	18
Criminal justice system	18
Refugees and asylum seekers	18
Mental health	19

Family violence	19
Longer term impacts on young people	20
Infant Feeding	20
Children's Health, Wellbeing and Education	21
Early Childhood Education and Care	21
People with disabilities	21
Food security	22
Primary health care	23
Sex workers	23
Dental health	24
Transport	24
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples	
Gambling	25
Alcohol and Other Drug Sector	26
onclusion	27
eferences	28

Preamble

The Public Health Association of Australia

The Public Health Association of Australia (PHAA) is recognised as the principal non-government organisation for public health in Australia working to promote the health and well-being of all Australians. It is the pre-eminent voice for the public's health in Australia.

The PHAA works to ensure that the public's health is improved through sustained and determined efforts of the Board, the National Office, the State and Territory Branches, the Special Interest Groups and members.

The efforts of the PHAA are enhanced by our vision for a healthy Australia and by engaging with like-minded stakeholders in order to build coalitions of interest that influence public opinion, the media, political parties and governments.

Health is a human right, a vital resource for everyday life, and key factor in sustainability. Health equity and inequity do not exist in isolation from the conditions that underpin people's health. The health status of all people is impacted by the social, cultural, political, environmental and economic determinants of health. Specific focus on these determinants is necessary to reduce the unfair and unjust effects of conditions of living that cause poor health and disease. These determinants underpin the strategic direction of the Association.

All members of the Association are committed to better health outcomes based on these principles.

Vision for a healthy population

A healthy region, a healthy nation, healthy people: living in an equitable society underpinned by a well-functioning ecosystem and a healthy environment, improving and promoting health for all.

The reduction of social and health inequities should be an over-arching goal of national policy and recognised as a key measure of our progress as a society. All public health activities and related government policy should be directed towards reducing social and health inequity nationally and, where possible, internationally.

Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia

As the leading national peak body for public health representation and advocacy, to drive better health outcomes through increased knowledge, better access and equity, evidence informed policy and effective population-based practice in public health.



Introduction

PHAA welcomes the opportunity to provide input to the Inquiry into COVID-19. Public health practice is about 'Protecting Health, Saving Lives – Millions at a Time'. Public health is built on prevention activities, rather than health care and its focus on treating illness. Optimal health is about more than just not being unwell, but about the ways in which whole populations behave and interact and stay healthy. Public health responses during a pandemic are therefore critical to the maintenance of health in large populations.

The initial response to the pandemic has been on reducing the immediate health and economic impact, based on information available at the time. This included a portfolio of action across all 11 public health intervention types – public policy development, legislation and regulation, resource allocation, engineering and technical interventions, incentives, service development and delivery, education, communication, collaboration and partnership building, community and organisational development and advocacy.

The response and efforts of community members; health, community and service workers; the national advisory group and governments generally in Australia should be recognised and celebrated. This has demonstrated the extraordinary capacity of the community to deal with a significant health threat.

Compared with international rates, Australia has maintained low population and case fatality rates, and has contributed only a very small number of cases and deaths to the international burden of disease. Whilst in part this may be due to being geographically remote (unlike European countries), the efforts made by Australia's public health advisors and the ministers who operationalised their advice is to be acknowledged. Distancing has clearly worked so far – some of the best evidence being the huge reduction in influenza and other seasonal communicable diseases cases this year. However, we must be mindful that this is far from over. Globally, the virus is spreading faster now than early on in the pandemic, and there are many conditions under which Australia would encounter a second wave.

Prior to this pandemic, we are aware that major outbreak exercises had been conducted and response plans formulated and updated as a result. We know that this had made Australia as prepared for an outbreak as other countries (such as the UK and the USA), the major difference being that when the outbreak happened, the plans were activated. This is very much to Australia's credit. PHAA has recognised this through our special PHAA President's Award for Members of the Australian Health Protection Principal Committee (AHPPC) on 12 May 2020.²

However, Australia's relative success has come at the expense of other public health activity as every available public health professional was pulled into the pandemic response. This reflects the capacity constraints brought about by years of inadequate investment in public health and preventing illness. Sustained increases in funding are needed to support building capacity and skilled public health workforces at Federal and State and Territory levels.

PHAA supports the efforts and response of the World Health Organization (WHO) within its limited remit and resources.³ We note that the WHO has produced a COVID-19 Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan Monitoring and Evaluation Framework, which may inform the current Senate Inquiry.⁴ We note the importance of health expert input to this Senate Inquiry. Economic and social recovery from this world health crisis will depend on securing, protecting and improving population health.

As we move from this initial phase into the recovery phase, broader public health impacts of the pandemic, and the response to it, must be considered and given a higher priority than was possible initially. This submission provides an overview of some of these issues, highlighting examples of existing health issues and inequities being exacerbated, unforeseen consequences of the response, and forecasting longer-term impacts.

Context

Public health responses during a pandemic are critical to the maintenance of health in large populations. There are a number of tools we have to assist us in this, briefly described here.

Assessing the response through the WFPHA lens

The World Federation of Public Health Associations (WFPHA) has developed a Charter, endorsed by the World Health Association. A helpful lens through which to examine public health activities, all Charter elements were relevant to Australia's response to COVID-19, although some elements were better activated than others. Core prevention-protection-promotion elements were activated quickly using pre-existing mechanisms including standard public health surveillance notification and contact tracing, public education and more. Our laboratories and notification systems performed well.

1. The WHO-endorsed WFPHA Charter for the Public's Health



Internationally, the World Health Organization (WHO) and Johns Hopkins University provided excellent and timely international information, and Australia utilised these sources at all stages. National and local information was updated in a timely way. Australian public health legislation was activated to good effect; nationally, public health unit capacity was upgraded; and advocacy for many constraining aspects of emergency management was disseminated effectively.

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

The United Nations Sustainable Development agenda is the shared blueprint for peace and prosperity for people and the planet, now and into the future.⁵ The 17 Sustainable Development Goals SDGs are an urgent call for action by all countries as part of the global partnership. They recognise the linkages between ending poverty, improving health and education, reducing inequality, protecting the environment, and encouraging economic growth.

Most SDGs, each of which has several target indicators, are relevant to the issue of COVID-19 and the response, particularly those relating to:

- No. 1: No poverty
- No 2: Zero hunger
- No 3: Good health and well-being
- No 4: Quality education
- No 5: Gender equality

- No 8: Decent work and economic growth
- No 10: Reduced inequalities
- No 15: Life on land
- No 16: Peace, justice and strong institutions

From a broad and immediate public health response perspective, the response to the pandemic cannot be de-linked from the SDGs. Food security, income protection, and secure housing are directly relevant as determinants of health: this pandemic has generated some major negative changes for many people in the areas of income and work, food security, gender and safety issues, and has highlighted and exacerbated many inequities. Contracting COVID-10 has had negative health consequences for some Australians, and the effects of separation from other people has generated mental health consequences for many.

On the other side, there are also a number of positive outcomes that have been reported as a result of the lockdown and distancing measures taken by countries. For example, there has been a measurable reduction in many health conditions, in particular other communicable and infectious diseases (especially influenza and influenza-like illness), reductions in road traffic accidents, and other countries have reported a reduction in cardiac events directly linked to a reduction in air pollution which might be repeated in Australia.

Training and role of public health professionals

An adequately skilled and qualified workforce is needed to protect public health. This workforce was called on to underpin Australia's COVID-19 response – not only frontline clinicians, nurses and other allied health, but epidemiologists and other public health professionals also.

Federal investment in public health education has been reduced over the last decade, particularly with the loss of Public Health Education and Research Program (PHERP) funding. The Federal Government invested in a set of Foundation Competencies for Master of Public Health Graduates in Australia, however not all Australian public health degrees are based on these. The lack of accreditation seen in other degrees complicates this issue, reducing oversight.

The Government could increase public health knowledge requirements by requiring public health staff to have relevant public health qualifications and experience. For medical doctors, they should be public health medicine specialists, and other public health professionals should have qualifications in their particular fields. This is currently not the case consistently. Also, public health department surge capacity for an outbreak such as COVID-19 should be built on people with public health training. The value of public health expertise as a speciality must be enhanced.

Only a minority of state and territory Departments of Health run ongoing dedicated public health training programs. Training opportunities for medical and non-medical public health specialists are not consistently offered and run. More such programs in all state and territories, as well as Commonwealth level, are essential to ensure adequacy of future public health workforce.

The global and regional nature of public health is also directly relevant to public health education. Australia provides a significant amount of public health education and training for our region. The impact on international student numbers and the longer-term impacts of the reduction in international students is yet be seen, but it is likely that, over time, capacity to offer full public health degree programs and supervise students adequately will decrease as student numbers in courses decrease.

Interruption to this will have ramifications for our biosecurity with a reduction in public health education and expertise in our region. Australia benefits from strong public health training for those in less-developed countries (especially our neighbours) in terms of social justice but also our own country's vulnerability, as well as revenues accrued from training international postgraduate public health students.

Government should:

- Increase the number of public health training programs
- Ensure all public health staff, both employed and in surge capacity, should be formally trained in public health, rather than just a health-related discipline.
- Support expansion of higher degree training in public health, including international students.

Equity

The systemic, unfair and avoidable health and social impacts experienced from policy responses (in this case to COVID-19) provides the moral basis for health equity. Equity is about pre-empting harms to society from policy decisions before they eventuate, just as much as identifying particular vulnerable communities and providing assistance.

National and international COVID-19 policy responses highlight the multiple connections within and between societies that have had a profound and ongoing impact on social wellbeing and vulnerability for groups at all levels of society.

With around one-third of people in Australia reporting that their household finances have worsened due to COVID-19,⁷ the impacts are broad, but not universal. An extensive list of some potentially affected population groups includes workers in, and suppliers to: food and groceries, transport, waste management, overseas students, delivery drivers, emergency services, self-employed people such as people working in the arts, all workers in healthcare institutions and those who provide care for the elderly.

People with pre-existing inequities who are likely to be further significantly adversely affected are also numerous, including homeless people, chronically unwell people, elderly and infirm people, socially isolated, low income and less educated people, culturally and linguistically diverse communities, asylum seekers and others with no social protections.

Government should:

- Undertake better identification and coordination of services to vulnerable groups for all emergencies
- Ensure more equitable income support for all groups, including those self-employed, and in recent casual employment
- Ensure ongoing coordinated investment in equitable public welfare supports and other structural determinants to protect and promote public welfare services

One Health

COVID-19 demonstrates that human and animal health are interdependent, closely linked to the health of the ecosystems, and that a One Health approach recognising these links, is paramount to prevent future pandemics.

The new COVID-19 is caused by a SARS-CoV-2 molecularly similar to the coronavirus found in bats. Given the initially infected cases in Wuhan and their association with the live-animal markets, it is very likely that the virus has been transmitted from animals and subsequently adapted to human-to-human transmission. Several years ago researchers in China discovered many coronaviruses in bats⁸ but the sharing of data between sectors and necessary interventions to prevent transmission of these viruses to humans did not happen. Such interventions are not simple, but at the very least there should have been a closure of 'wet markets' as well as reductions in deforestation and urban and farmland incursions into natural areas.

The new coronavirus is similar to the SARS-1 virus that caused the 2003 epidemic and the Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS) virus first detected in 2012 that infects camels before transmitting to humans. The linkages of these zoonotic diseases with the wildlife trade has led to the closure of wildlife trade in China.

With 3 out of every 4 emerging and re-emerging infectious diseases originating from animals especially wildlife^{10, 11} like those traded in live-animal markets, the Australian Government should:

- Urgently adopt a One Health approach to disease surveillance (risk-based) including establishing a National Wildlife Disease Surveillance system in Australia¹²
- Assess the wildlife trade and increase regulations associated with this trade¹³
- Strengthen veterinary services within Australia and regionally to enable appropriate epidemiological investigations of disease outbreaks
- Limit deforestation and urban expansion into natural areas in Australia
- Ensure the Australian Centre for Disease Preparedness¹⁴ is up-graded to enable high quality diagnosis of diseases and to support neighbouring countries in laboratory capacity building for zoonotic disease diagnosis
- Collaborate with One Health surveillance and lab capacity building programs like the PREDICT project¹⁵
- Support COVID-19 One Health Research Coalition¹⁶
- Incorporate One Health approaches in medical and animal health curriculum and all emergency disease preparedness and response plans
- Review legislation associated with pandemics to ensure necessary regulations are in place to ensure information sharing and interventions across sectors

Response

Coordination between Governments

The Australian Government's response to the pandemic has, overall, shown solid leadership, with decisive action taken in establishing the National Cabinet early. This has encouraged cooperation and coordination between Governments at Commonwealth and State and Territory levels. An Australian National Audit Office review of the Commonwealth Department of Health's Coordination of Communicable Disease Emergencies in 2017 noted that state and territory governments are primarily responsible for managing communicable disease emergencies with the Commonwealth becoming involved when a national response is required, and in a primary role of coordination.¹⁷

Existing emergency response and disaster response plans in place meant that the necessity for a whole-of government approach to a national public health crisis was clear. ¹⁸ Taskforces, information hubs and policy statements across the spectrum of policy portfolios in Government demonstrate the wide-ranging nature of the response from Governments. ¹⁹

Government response was based on 4 elements designed to flatten the curve and increase the capacity to respond; and based upon National Cabinet commitment to honour and act on medical advice:

- domestic and international border control
- equipment and testing capabilities
- contact tracing
- distancing

While there have been some issues with the coordination between levels of Government, at times leading to confusion from conflicting advice, some differences were not only to be expected but were warranted, as in a country as large as Australia, there have been effectively multiple epidemics occurring in different places simultaneously. Variations in responses are required accordingly, and do not necessarily signify a diminishing of coordination and cooperation in national response.

The mechanism established to achieve coordination through the National Cabinet is sound, and PHAA supports a model which achieves cooperation and coordination on other significant national issues.

Communication issues

Communication in a time of crisis is always complex. Even more so when the crisis is rare, global and evolving quickly. There will be elements of uncertainty, and mistakes will inevitably be made. Lessons can be learned from this experience to make improvements for the next event. From COVID-19 so far, there are two areas relating to communication from which lessons may arise – planning and consistency.

The Australian Health Sector Response Plan included strong provisions for communication. Putting these into practice in real time has highlighted issues and areas for improvement. Mechanisms for consultation are limited, and the Plan has not been implemented in its entirety. The lack of consultation with various stakeholders demonstrates the need for a stronger set of mechanisms for consultation to be established pre-pandemic, rehearsed and refined. Policies adopted in the crisis phase and thereafter lack evidence of consultation, such as via stakeholder reference groups.

The clear exception to this has been the consultation with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, where the communication and engagement has been much stronger, with positive results.

Information dissemination to the public has come from multiple official sources, with a Federal response from the Prime Minister with medical information provided by Professor Paul Kelly on public health and epidemiology and Professor Brendan Murphy on medical and logistical issues, followed by various State and Territory level leaders and chief health officers. There is definitely a logic to this, as people ask both "What is Australia doing about this?" and "How does it affect me?". Managing differences in advice from these various sources is the challenge, to ensure it is not disjointed and confusing.

Improved coordination of messages within Australia would have been helpful. It may have been better to have one national Australian information source and set of rules, with allowances for different circumstances, especially in the early stages as everyone was trying to understand and adjust to the rapidly evolving situation. Clear explanations of variations in response and restrictions may have eased concerns and confusion, and increased confidence in the overall response.

The prepared plans made escalating outbreak response rapid and easy to follow for authorities. In terms of communication, in the future it would be helpful for general information about planning exercises to be circulated as minor news items, so that the general public knows that emergency response is something that has been thought about and is ready to activate if needed, not a reflex reaction to evolving events.

The importance of crisis communication is highlighted here. Communication and behaviour change are central components of pandemic management.

Government should:

- Provide urgent funding for research in communication and behavioural insights into aspects of public health management, to inform and improve future communications.
- Ensure coordinated national communication strategy and information, with clear and logical explanations for differences where they exist.

Firearms

The PHAA strongly supported early action, particularly by the Governments in Western Australia, Queensland and Victoria, in closing gun shops and firearm dealerships as part of the distancing restrictions. With reports that sales of firearms had spiked in the beginning stages of the pandemic, the moves to clearly delineate licenced weapon dealers as non-essential services was welcomed by the public health community.

Alcohol

There is emerging evidence that the fear, uncertainty, economic pressures and social isolation during COVID-19, have contributed to increased risky alcohol use. Alcohol marketing has flourished during the past couple of months, with some advertising specifically encouraging alcohol consumption in response to COVID-19 restrictions.

This has flowed through to an increase in alcohol-related harms including an increase in family violence incidents overall and incidents involving alcohol, and an increase in demand for general mental health service and alcohol specific treatment and support services.

As initial restrictions on movement ease, and the economic implications play out, the harms from alcohol use, especially among at-risk populations, are likely to become more prevalent.

For details, please see appendix.

Governments should:

- Place limits on predatory alcohol marketing
- Invest in prevention and educating the public to reduce risky drinking
- Support alcohol and other drug treatment services
- Work with State and Territories to place curbs on alcohol availability, especially late at night, and online sales and deliveries
- Make data available in a timely manner to allow for monitoring and rapid policy responses to keep the community safe, and
- Ensure that Government messaging supports people to reduce their drinking.

Racism

The high levels of reported racism, particularly towards people with a South East Asian background, has been very disturbing. Policing of distancing restrictions has been uneven. This has not only occurred because of the pandemic, but reflects underlying elements of racism already in existence.²⁰ It is really important we understand this better and ensure we find ways in Australia to make our values such as respecting people explicit. An analysis of infringement notices given during distancing restrictions will be important to examine any racial discrepancies in policing.²⁰

Government should fund an analysis of infringement notices given during distancing restrictions to identify trends and discrepancies in policing.

Recovery

Australian CDC

The establishment of an Australian version of a centre for disease control (CDC) or its equivalent has been sought by public health experts for many years, but long resisted by Australian Governments. This would be one way for a more coordinated approach to supporting national approaches to communicable diseases control and environmental health issues, and pulling together the emerging evidence as pandemics unfold.

The COVID-19 crisis has renewed calls for this type of designated public agency to provide scientific advice on communicable disease control. Australia is the only country in the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) without such an agency. The apparent success of Australia in minimising the number of cases and deaths from COVID-19 may be interpreted by some as evidence that we have no need for a CDC. However, there are many factors which worked in our favour in controlling COVID-19, including our geography and the dominance of travel-related cases as opposed to community transmissions. While the Australian Health Protection Principal Committee (AHPPC) mechanism was preexisting and able to be utilised quickly, our response would have benefitted from having a centralised agency to support and advise the AHPPC.

A CDC is able to provide:

- a source of technical leadership and coordination
- proficient communication of technical information and direction to the public and healthcare providers
- training and mentoring to support workforce development
- independent, expert-led investigation of emerging health issues
- ongoing analysis and interpretation of national data
- Engagement and co-ordination with like agencies in the Asia Pacific region and internationally
- Scenario planning relating to future possible pandemics
- · development of new surveillance methods
- routine review of international findings
- evaluation of policy and program impact
- assist with the provision of surge capacity to the public health and other workforces.²¹

An independent agency to provide advice and education to the public about COVID-19 (in this instance), and to coordinate relevant health advice to the public would assist with protecting against inconsistent information and misinformation.

In 2018, the Australian Government released its response to the 2013 House of Representatives Standing Committee on Health and Ageing report: *Diseases have no Borders: Report on the Inquiry into Health Issues across International Borders*. Following the COVID-19 crisis, the Government may wish to review some of the responses to recommendations in that report. Recommendations regarding workforce development (13), and an audit of agency roles and responsibilities (14) were noted rather than supported. Significantly, a recommendation for an independent review to assess the case for establishing a CDC in Australia was not agreed, citing the development of the National Communicable Disease Framework to improve coordination and integrated response "without changing the responsibilities of government".²²

The Office of Health Protection was established in 2005 within the federal Department of Health as an alternative but less well-resourced approach, and it too has had to endure significant resourcing constraints and loss of specific expertise in public health.¹⁷ This can in turn impact upon the quality and adequacy of support to other key national advisory groups and networks such as CDNA or enHealth (the cross-jurisdictional Environmental Health Committee that also reports to AHPPC). Nevertheless, calls for an Australian CDC continue.^{23, 24}

PHAA recommends the Government establish an Australian independent designated public agency to provide scientific advice and education, and coordination assistance on communicable disease control, including all diseases of public health importance.

Advisory bodies to Government

The PHAA commends the Government on the establishment of the National Cabinet for key decision making during the COVID pandemic. While not perfect, the cooperation and coordination between the Federal and State and Territory Governments has been key to Australia's successful response to date. The bipartisanship that National Cabinet involves is welcome. The bipartisanship and decision making based on science rather than politics is strongly commended. We hope to see a continuation of this on other issues into the future in Australia.

13

The PHAA is aware of two main sources of advice to Government and the National Cabinet regarding the COVID-19 response: one for health and the other for business.

The Australian Health Protection Principal Committee (AHPPC) "is the key decision-making committee for health emergencies and is comprised of all state and territory Chief Health Officers and Chaired by the Australian Chief Medical Officer." Also on the AHPPC, is the chair of the Communicable Diseases Network Australia (CDNA), which is the key advisory body regarding communicable disease control across jurisdictions in Australia. Members of the CDNA (state and territory and Australian Government representatives, plus a representative from the Public Health Laboratory Network of Australia) have significant expertise in diagnosis, notification systems, monitoring, epidemiology and evidence-informed implementation of public health responses.

This network has operated very well under immense pressure due to the many roles members also carry within their jurisdictions. Resourcing of basic public health infrastructure has not been maintained across most jurisdictions, leaving shortfalls in capacity to respond as well as to carry out basic induction and training of the necessary additional staff to undertake work such as contact tracing as the COVID-19 pandemic became apparent.

The Government has also established on 25th March 2020 the National COVID-19 Coordination Commission. However, there are serious questions about this Commission which was appointed without any consultation and is right now considering project proposals. What was the selection process for the membership? What are the declarations of conflicts of interest and how are those conflicts being addressed? What are the processes by which a proposal is put before the Commission? What are the guidelines they are operating under to make recommendations on particular project proposals? What accountability and transparency measures are in place for the important tasks of this Commission? What will be the impacts on our recovery from COVID-19 of this opaque and unilateral decision?

According to the Commission's website it aims to "coordinate advice to the Australian Government on actions to anticipate and mitigate the economic and social impacts of the global COVID-19 pandemic...The Commission is advising the Prime Minister on all non-health aspects of the pandemic response". PHAA has concerns that this Commission, as currently established, will not be able to achieve this aim, and is not focused across all aspects implied in the ambitious aim to begin with.

A quote from the Chair, Mr Neville Power, listed on the website says the Commission is to "help minimise and mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on jobs and businesses, and to facilitate the fastest possible recovery of lives and livelihoods once the virus has passed". ²⁶ This provides a clear and concise focus on the economic impacts, but does not adequately reflect or reference the social impacts which will be substantial.

Another indication that the focus is clearly on economic rather than the social impacts is the membership of the Commission. The members include former CEOs and senior executives of Fortescue Metals, Smorgens Steel Group, Telstra, IBM, Toll Holdings, EnergyAustralia, Shell, BHP Billiton, Dow Chemical Company, DowDuPont, and the Australian Council of Trade Unions. While this creates a particular economic focus, there do not appear to be any members whose experience and expertise suggest a community and social focus.

The make-up of the Commission does not appear constituted to allow it to fulfil its designated purpose. The members lack apparent experience and expertise in a broad range of non-economic issues upon which the Government will need advice. The issues raised in this submission are an example of these types of issues, for which a clear channel of advice of Government is severely lacking. The current Commission is an inappropriate vehicle for that advice.

PHAA strongly recommends that:

- the stated purpose and terms of reference of the existing Commission are amended to reduce the focus to economic issues, and to provide clear and transparent processes and guidelines.
- a reduced emphasis on fossil fuels and a greater emphasis on economic stimulus that reflects the urgent need for action in relation to the climate crisis. This will require additional members with that expertise and interest.
- another Commission be established to provide advice on non-economic issues. This new
 Commission should be comprised of members with a diverse range of backgrounds in social
 policy and programs, to provide advice on impacts on particular sectors of society, and how to
 "build back better".

Responsive, inclusive, participatory and transparent decision making

While we applaud the use of the National Cabinet in the early phase of the pandemic, now that we have moved beyond that to a phase for rebuilding the social and economic sectors, it is important that, in accord with the SDG 16, the community is involved in policy and planning decision making:

- 16.6 Develop effective, accountable and transparent institutions at all levels
- 16.7 Ensure responsive, inclusive, participatory and representative decision-making at all levels

This needs to occur at two levels. Parliament as the core government body in Australian representative democracy needs to be fully carrying out its policy making, debate and decision-making functions, and its oversight of the executive branch of government at this crucial time. There is no technological reason that parliament and its committees cannot be sitting while permitting distancing.

Secondly, given the dramatic changes that have occurred, the community also needs to be brought into the policy making processes using tried and tested participatory and deliberative means as is being done in other countries. Planning for Australia's future requires a whole of government with community involvement approach.

We are concerned at the extensive use of delegated legislation and the specific exclusion of parliamentary review of a high proportion of that legislation. Excluding parliamentary review is particularly non-democratic.

Government should:

- Recall Federal Parliament and State and Territory Parliaments
- Wind back the use of delegated regulation and ensure that any use of clauses that remove Parliament's capacity to amend or reject this legislation is limited and justified
- Include the community in planning and policy discussion about recovery from COVID-19

Casual workers

As restrictions ease and Australians return to workplaces, maintaining extensive testing and isolation of actual and suspected cases is essential to avoid a second wave. Staying home when sick is one of the core messages promoted to the public to reduce the spread of this coronavirus. However, workers will often attend when they have only mild symptoms, and the risk of attending whilst sick increases in workers who have little or no access to paid sick leave.

The WHO reported that in 2009, when economic crisis and the H1N1 pandemic occurred simultaneously, an alarming number of employees without the possibility of taking paid sick leave attended work while sick. This allowed H1N1 to spread throughout their workplaces, causing the infection of some 7 million coworkers.²⁷

In Australia approximately 35% (more than 3.6 million) workers have no access to sick leave. 28, 29

Government should: introduce a national paid pandemic leave scheme allowing 10 days over 12 months

Human rights

With the disproportionate impacts on particular population groups,³⁰ and the immense burden of COVID-19 placing increased pressure on already stretched health systems, there are significant risks to human rights through the response and recovery phases of the pandemic. Disadvantaged people are at increased risk of infection and death, and less access to health care, and there is evidence of wealthy countries stockpiling and attempts at profiting from the crisis.³¹

A global statement signed by organisations representing over 5 million public health professionals, scientists, academics, health-care professionals, and advocates, including the World Federation of Public Health Associations. This statement proposes a Global Health Equity Task Force within the WHO, and calls for coordinated global action of governments working closely with civil society organisations.

The Government should advocate for a Global Health Task Force within the WHO to:32

- Provide countries with the financial and expert resources required for a response that is maximally effective and protective of vulnerable populations
- Suspend debts of lower-income countries and increase debt relief
- Maximise supply and share health resources globally, equitably and based on need
- Distribute therapies and vaccines equitably, based on need
- Remove export controls, reform sanctions and revise travel restrictions that hinder the global COVID-19 response
- Protect people who lack protection from own governments

Climate change

A healthy recovery is one that recognises that human, economic and planetary health are closely connected: when all three are healthy, all three are strong. As the pandemic has shown, when human health is compromised, the economy suffers. Climate change will magnify the risks from other infectious diseases, making outbreaks more frequent, less predictable and harder to deal with. The ongoing destruction of animal habitats increases transmission pathways with other animals and humans, increasing the risk of pandemics.¹⁶ Air pollution accounts for 7 million premature deaths each year, and leaves people with weakened respiratory and circulatory systems, increasing vulnerability to pandemics such as COVID-19.

The response to the COVID-19 pandemic has shown that the Australian Government is capable of decisive and strong action, underpinned by a respect for scientific evidence, in a bipartisan way. This approach to one health crisis of the virus, must now extend to the other global health crisis – climate change.

For details please see Appendix.

The Government should ensure that recovery policies and economic stimulus are designed to ensure a healthy recovery with co-benefits to health, the environment and the economy, emphasising decarbonisation towards net zero emissions.

Access to medicines, vaccines, tests and medical devices

Patents and other intellectual property protections can present barriers to procuring medicines, vaccines, diagnostic tests and medical devices. In a public health emergency like COVID-19, these barriers can lead to shortages of life-saving products.

Examples of this for patents have already been seen, and Australian legislation includes important safeguards to prevent shortages of medical supplies. We also need to use international mechanisms to ensure that Australia can import drugs manufactured elsewhere when there is insufficient capacity to produce them locally, and support global mechanisms such as the WHO's COVID-19 Technology Access Pool to ensure affordable access on a global scale.

The COVID-19 pandemic necessitates a fundamental re-think of the types of rules that are negotiated in trade agreements, including those that can encourage monopolies and reduce affordable access to all forms of medical supplies, and put at risk the lives of people in every country of the world.

For details, please see appendix.

The Australian Government should:

- prepare to use the compulsory licensing and/or Crown use provisions in the Commonwealth Patents Act to over-ride patents where this is necessary to prevent shortages of critical products during COVID-19
- amend the compulsory licensing provisions in the Patents Act to remove (or suspend for the duration of the pandemic) the requirement to negotiate with the patent owner prior to issuance of a compulsory license
- revoke an earlier decision at the World Trade Organization to declare itself an "ineligible importing member" of drugs produced under compulsory license in other countries
- commit to ensuring the open sharing of intellectual property, knowledge and data that will
 enable timely and affordable access for people of all countries to medical products to combat
 COVID-19, and endorse the WHO's COVID-19 Technology Access Pool
- use enforceable provisions in funding arrangements to ensure that publicly-funded research outcomes are affordable and accessible to all on a global scale
- utilise safeguards to facilitate access in the TRIPS Agreement, as confirmed by the Doha
 Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement, and support other countries' rights to use these flexibilities
- reconsider the rules negotiated in trade agreements which can encourage monopolies and reduce affordable access to medical supplies

Impacts on population groups and health issues

Criminal justice system

Prisoners represent some of the most vulnerable populations, including significant over-representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, those from low socio-economic backgrounds, people experiencing homelessness in the community, those with mental illness, and people with disabilities. As reflected in the distancing and quarantine measures in place in the community, the virus spreads quickly in closed spaces making overcrowded prisons an ideal place for disease transmission. Allowing the virus to spread in prisons would dramatically increase the epidemic curve.

With distancing and increased hygiene practices difficult or impossible in some prison contexts, because of shared facilities and restrictions on availability of some products such as alcohol-containing hand sanitiser, prevention within prisons is more problematic than in the community.

For details, please see appendix.

The Government should:

- Take immediate action to reduce the number of people in places of detention: ensure that prison is used only as an option of last resort, with specific efforts to reduce the use of remand, and to facilitate early release wherever possible.
- Prohibit the use of solitary confinement as a method of isolation and quarantine.
- Ensure that National Preventive Mechanisms and other inspections under the Optional Protocol to the Prevention of Torture (OPCAT) are facilitated to ensure no reduction in oversight.

Refugees and asylum seekers

Many of the obstacles to the recommended distancing and hygiene practices for prisoners, apply also to refugees and asylum seekers in immigration detention. Access to healthcare is often limited, with crowded conditions and shared sanitation facilities. These people are already detained unreasonably and unconscionably. For those living in detention facilities in Nauru and Papua New Guinea, there is an additional burden of being detained in countries with poor health systems. With 1,440 people in detention facilities in Australia,³³ and another 388 in offshore detention on Nauru and Papua New Guinea,³⁴ there are high risks without appropriate infection control.

Asylum seekers and refugees have minimal or no access to Medicare, and may not be able to access appropriate information and health services because of poor health literacy, lack of interpreters, fear of arrest and costs. These concerns are also relevant for those on bridging visas, or temporary visa holders including migrant workers and international students.

Government should ensure that everyone in Australia, including asylum seekers, refugees, those on bridging visas, and temporary visa holders including migrant workers and international students, has access to testing and related treatment through the provision of access to Medicare.

Mental health

COVID-19 protection measures of distancing, closures and quarantine are having significant mental health effects. COVID-19 disproportionately impacts those people who are already vulnerable; the current social and economic impact is unlike anything the world or Australia has seen since the Great Depression. It is essential that we not underestimate the importance of preventative mental health strategies, and working over the long-term with Australians *without* an existing mental health condition, whose world has been turned upside down by the emergence of one or more of the major life events described.

The COVID-19 pandemic may worsen existing mental health problems and lead to more cases among children and adolescents. Access to crisis services has already increased.

A key issue in effectively responding to the wide-ranging mental health issues currently impacting, and likely to impact, Australians in the future, is promoting and maintaining help-seeking behaviours from the general public.^{35, 36} There is an increased need for accessible services to redress stigma and enable and enhance access to mental health care in a variety of clinical, non-clinical and peer-based spaces.

Factors with the potential to positively impact mental health are technology advances, availability of support systems, access to health resources, media messaging, government support, and sense of global community.³⁷

For details, please see appendix.

Consistent with WHO recommendations, Government should prioritise:

- Promotion of access to mental health services including awareness campaigns, public health messaging and risk communication, and continuation of telehealth Medicare item numbers.
- Strengthening mental health service capacity including psychological aspects of hospitalisation, increased planning and capacity for community based and alternative service provision and increased use of technology-based services.
- Increased investment in primary prevention and promotion of mental health and wellbeing using a whole of society approach that seeks to address the social, economic and environmental determinants of health including resilience, connectedness and social and economic support.

Family violence

Increased rates of reporting of family violence incidents have been noted around the world, including in Australia, ³⁸ with increased frequency and severity of incidents, and violence in relationships for the first time. This was expected because of research and evidence that family violence can become more frequent and severe during periods of emergency. For many people, public health and community containment measures introduced to reduce the spread of COVID-19 such as physical distancing and self-isolation, as well as increased financial insecurity and reduced ability to leave relationship, may increase their risk of family violence. ³⁹ With fewer opportunities to leave the home, people experiencing family violence have lost access to social support, information and advice, both formal and informal. ³⁸ Changed and reduced interactions with professionals with mandatory reporting responsibilities such as teachers and doctors, will have reduced opportunities to notice signs of concern and risk.

Longer term impacts on young people

Within the shared and collective experience of COVID-19, there have been stark differences among the generations. While many young people contracted the virus, they were more likely to have few and less serious symptoms, whereas older people were more likely to experience severe illness or death. The response measures, however, played out in an opposite way. Younger people were more likely to be among the millions of workers who lost their employment and income, whereas older people were more likely to be in more secure employment or retired.

While this is clearly a gross generalisation, there is some sound basis to the notion that younger people have suffered the most from the response, to prevent older people suffering most from the virus. This may be a perfectly acceptable and rational decision for a society to make. However, the existing and underlying conditions of that society are relevant.

The disproportionate impacts of the response to COVID-19 on young people have exacerbated existing economic insecurities and intergenerational wealth disparities, lack of affordable housing options, and anxieties about a lack of political leadership and action on issues of importance to young people such as climate change and job security. The COVID-19 experience has severely and disproportionately affected social determinants of health for young people.

A consideration of which professions and workers were considered essential during this pandemic response, and the renumeration of those people compared with others considered non-essential, should lead us to question who we value in society and why.

For details please see appendix.

The Government should ensure that economic stimulus packages ensure that intergenerational wealth disparities are addressed through removing tax incentives and concessions predominately benefitting older, wealthier people.

Infant Feeding

The importance of breastfeeding is well known for the short term and long-term health of the baby and the mother. In the time of a pandemic the protection, promotion and support of breastfeeding is even more crucial than in pandemic free times. Breastfeeding is a human right and helps to reduce morbidity, mortality, ensures proper growth and development, and protects women and their children. To date, breastfeeding has not been well recognised as a practice that provides resilience in all types of emergencies, including pandemics, but there is now ample international guidance supporting appropriate planning and preparedness at the national level.

The development of policies and clinical guidelines regarding infants in infectious disease outbreaks is challenging, and must weigh the risks of disease transmission against the importance that breastfeeding plays in supporting infant and maternal physical and mental health. It was concerning that in the early stages of the pandemic, little coordinated, authoritative advice was available, leading to many hospitals writing their own guidelines with a lack of expert input.

For details please see Appendix.

The Government should:

- Promote breastfeeding with clear and expert guidance
- Ensure strong messaging that breastfeeding provides food security so it is important not to prematurely wean during an emergency
- Ensure messaging is available about re-lactation and where to seek advice and support

Children's Health, Wellbeing and Education

During the recent introduction of social measures to curb the spread of Coronavirus (COVID-19), families were encouraged to stay home, to work from home as much as possible, and to keep children at home. This has had far-reaching impacts for children, recognised and acknowledged by Prime Minister Scott Morrison, particularly in relation to the disruption to secondary, primary and early education. Furthermore, the notion those at most risk of contracting COVID-19 are adults and those managing chronic and comorbid health conditions precluded children from attracting high level attention to address their health and wellbeing needs during virus containment periods.

Planning to address the health and education needs of children during the rollout of a National pandemic emergency response should be reviewed as a priority area in this Inquiry.

Early Childhood Education and Care

The early childhood education and care (ECEC) sector provides essential services to families in preparation for children entering primary school, and to support health objectives including development of lifelong nutrition and physical activity habits.

The challenges highlighted throughout the current emergency suggest significant vulnerabilities for the ECEC sector for both children and staff. In response, the Government declared free ECEC services to parents on a background of a funding gap between funding to the ECEC sector and Job Keeper eligibility for payments to support employees. This highlighted the vulnerability of the sector to deliver up-front equivalent Job Keeper payments with drastically reduced numbers of children in attendance.

Nutrition best practices and healthy food environments in ECEC settings were disrupted as cook-provided meals were replaced with lunchboxes from home, which evidence shows rarely meet National Nutrition Guidelines.⁴³

By undertaking an orderly response and review of ECEC sector support in the wake of the COVID-19 phenomenon, ongoing stability for children's health, education and wellbeing will be ensured and demonstrate effective governmental actions in times of emergency.

For details please see appendix.

An inquiry into ECEC services who currently support 1.4 million children across Australia is warranted to determine the impact of multiple factors including poor food access, funding, staff wellbeing, sector resilience during this emergency. An immediate evaluation of disruption to children's learning and provision of services should be undertaken Nationally.

Government should plan for safe return to usual care and re-uptake of services, ensuring availability of places for working families and vulnerable families. State and Commonwealth co-ordination of sector support models should be orientated towards sector sustainability with transparent ongoing oversight and review as the lifting of containment restrictions continues.

People with disabilities

Many families of children or adults with disabilities rely very heavily on the care and NDIS systems to survive and to be able to participate themselves in communities or even work. ^{44, 45} Restrictions on these activities during the pandemic has meant that these families have had to take time from work to be able to care for their child/person as services have been withdrawn because of precautions resulting in even greater isolation and in some cases exposure to significant behavioural challenges without support.

Lack of access to technological solutions such as TeleHealth options, complex health and social needs, and co-morbidity have compounded difficulties for families during this time, and support the need for patient and family-centred services. The experience of families during the emerging reorientation of services responding to the COVID-19 pandemic highlights the importance of better design, less duplication and better clarity for families of children with disabilities. The involvement of consumers in planning and messaging changes is vital.

For details please see Appendix.

Government should support and act upon the principles outlined in the Statement of Concern, ⁴⁶ and prioritise a review of impacts for people diagnosed with disability and their families and carers.

Food security

While the Government may feel confident that "Australia does not have a food security problem" from an agricultural and production perspective, ⁴⁷ for individuals, it is a different story. Poorly and not routinely measured, Australian household food insecurity is relatively hidden. Before COVID-19, food insecurity affected over 4 million Australians, who did not have consistent access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food due to a lack of money or other resources. ^{48, 49} Among Australians living in entrenched disadvantage, over 80% experience household food insecurity. ⁵⁰ The health consequences of this include malnutrition and diet-related chronic diseases such as obesity and diabetes, and mental illness, all exacerbating healthcare costs.

"The major risk to food security from the COVID-19 crisis is not empty supermarket shelves. It's the emerging social and economic crisis that will push greater number of people into poverty, so that they're unable to afford enough nutritious food". 51

Food charity schemes experienced and increase in demand and disruptions, affecting those who rely on them for food. Low and newly low income families may have to make compromises in an effort to stretch the household income for bills and unexpected costs, with food being the only flexible item. This would have further health implications as lack of nutritious food intake could then increase vulnerability to infection and viruses like COVID-19. Food insecurity is a robust predictor of health care utilisation and costs incurred by working-age adults, independent of other social determinants of health.⁵²

The Australian Government has shown leadership in a living social wage, and is commended for this action. The challenge is to continue to see the longer-term benefits of this.

The past few months have also been the first time the fragility of the food system in Australia has been so severely tested. Some supply issues were seen, especially to regional and remote areas.

Government should:

- Ensure that economic stimulus packages and adjustments to the JobSeeker and JobKeeper payments do not increase food insecurity in Australia.
- Enact Australia's obligation Article 11 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights 1966, by specifically providing adequate social protection in the form of financial assistance payments indexed to the cost of living.
- Increase the resilience of our food systems.⁵³

Primary health care

The health care delivery sector has redesigned its processes and services during COVID-19 to maintain health services to people during distancing and isolation. Hospitals restructured wards and reorganised non-essential surgical lists to accommodate any surge in in-patient umbers due to SARS CoV-2 infections. Services which could not be delayed, such as emergency and obstetric deliveries, were thoughtfully restructured to enable continuity of services. The shortfall in adequate personal protective equipment (PPE) for all clinical and other staff in public settings is acknowledged, and, to our knowledge, has been addressed. The enormous amount of work to protect the people delivering and using these services is acknowledged.

However, the development and roll-out of community COVID-19 testing services was not clearly articulated, and whilst it was pleasing to have the 'pneumonia/chest' clinics developed, the mechanism for access to these remains unclear.

The importance of telehealth during the time of the pandemic has been recognised by the development of telehealth Medicare Benefit Scheme (MBS) item numbers which will remain in place until September 2020. Telehealth item numbers have been provided to general medical practitioners, psychiatrists, paediatricians, nurses, midwives, psychologists, speech pathologists, physiotherapists, occupational therapists, social workers, dieticians, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioners, and used by at least 1 in 6 Australians. 55

While designed as a temporary measure, expansion of telehealth services has long been an aspiration of the health sector in Australia, particularly for regional and remote areas. However, the importance of having adequate and reliable internet links is of separate and parallel importance.

Government should:

- Make telehealth items permanent, along with adequate internet services
- Review surge capacity plans for unavoidable/emergency inpatient services and ensure their adaptability for use in future emergencies
- Upgrade PPE stockpiles for primary health and hospital services are maintained for future emergencies

Sex workers

Prior to the coronavirus pandemic, sex workers faced systemic vulnerabilities due to criminalisation and policing of their work, social stigma and discrimination. Despite systemic challenges, sex workers in Australia have a strong track record of spearheading successful public health programs in partnership with government, including their world-leading response to the HIV pandemic. 77, 58

Confronted with the challenges of COVID-19, many sex workers implemented social distancing and other safety strategies even ahead of government mandates. Through the work of peer educators regularly interacting with a diversity of sex workers, sex worker organisations are informing and designing timely and context-appropriate public health interventions to support sex workers, their families and the wider community. ^{59, 60}

For details please see Appendix.

Government should include sex worker organisations in the planning and implementation of workplace reopening strategies, to avoid negative impacts to sex workers and the wider community and ensure that policies reflect real-world practicalities.

Dental health

The dental sector has been significantly affected during the response to COVID-19, where restrictions to dental practice were in place based on the guidelines developed by the Australian Dental Association. Whether these restrictions were based on evidence or potential real risk is unclear. However, more consultation within the sector, and with the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care may have been beneficial.

Recent advances in telehealth technology including the use of intra-oral cameras by community health personnel in remote clinics has demonstrated that telehealth may be successfully extended to some oral health services.

Transport

The distancing restrictions and closures of businesses has resulted in some outcomes which we may wish to encourage into the future. One of these has been the decrease in traffic on our roads, and increase in walking and cycling around local communities. There are many benefits from this change – to the environment from decreased emissions, and to individuals from the physical and mental health benefits of exercise. The large scale move to working from home has demonstrated that in many more cases than we previously thought possible, we can significantly reduce the hours of each day we spend commuting.

As restrictions ease, and movement increases, people may understandably feel reticent to be on crowded public transport, and so a real risk is a significant increase in motor vehicle traffic as cars are seen to be a safer option. With appropriate leadership, we have the opportunity to encourage and facilitate active transport as a viable alternative, alongside an increase in public transport to minimise overcrowding.

Valuable leadership on this has already been shown in Australia, with the Government prioritising physical activity as an essential activity during distancing restrictions. Internationally, Governments have recognised the unique opportunity provided by the decreases in motor vehicle activity to repurpose space. Measures taken around the world have included reduced speed limits, widened footpaths, emergency cycle lanes, and streets closed to motor vehicles.

Now is the opportunity to create and improve active transport infrastructure, and improve public transport availability to reduce reliance on private motor vehicles. There have already been some projects such as this in Australia, and State and Territory Governments should prioritise these investments as part of the infrastructure projects in the recovery stimulus packages.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are at increased risk of severe disease from infections such as COVID-19, particularly those over the age of 50. In recognition of this, a number of specific mechanisms have been put in place to reduce the incidence of COVID-19 among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

The Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (ACCHO) sector advocated for travel restrictions limiting access to remote communities was instituted to prevent infections in these communities. Such travel restrictions were subsequently actioned by relevant governments.

PHAA commends the Government on convening the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory Group on COVID-19, co-chaired by the National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO) and the Department of Health, to develop and deliver a National Management Plan.⁶¹

This has led to significant leadership, engagement and work from the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health sector with all governments. This includes 10% of GP Respiratory Clinics and testing sites being run from ACCHOs, to facilitate culturally safe access.

The genuine partnership approach has led to good outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities so far, with few cases of COVID-19. While breakdowns of official figures are difficult to find, anecdotally, Indigenous people are under-represented, perhaps accounting for as little as less than 1% of cases. This is an extraordinary and positive outcome, for a population group identified as highly vulnerable.

The coordinated, strategic approach from the ACCHO sector as early as February, well before COVID-19 was called a pandemic, has had many aspects which have contributed to the success. A number of resources, such as COVID-19 specific on-line modules for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health worker training, have been provided through NACCHOs and the Australian National University.

Culturally appropriate messaging was also quickly developed and distributed, using the existing strong connections to communities, well before the Commonwealth messaging was produced. Additionally, the Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council of NSW, a jurisdictional affiliate of NACCHO, developed a Pandemic Toolkit specifically for ACCHOs in NSW. The focus of ACCHOs at jurisdictional and national level on public health is likely to have given them a strong starting point for responding to this crisis. A full evaluation to identify learnings is needed to fully understand this.

The increased pressure on Indigenous organisations is notable, in particular the NACCHO and jurisdictional affiliates, and ACCHOs.

Of note, the majority of remote communities do not have reliable access to internet resources, so that when available to them, these resources have been critical.

Government should:

- Increase ongoing support and funding to NACCHO and ACCHOs in recognition of the increased burden on Indigenous organisations in coping with health-related emergencies, reducing the government load and delivering appropriate information to Indigenous communities.
- Ensure Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander representation in advisory bodies to Federal and State governments.
- Provide funding for the evaluation of the response within Indigenous communities to identify lessons for future pandemic response

Gambling

The gambling venues containing Australia's 194,000 electronic gaming machines have been closed during the restrictions arising from the COVID-19 pandemic. This has provided people with gambling problems and addictions an opportunity to reduce their gambling behaviours, with reports of positive benefits. There are a number of public health issues to address in considering the re-opening of these venues as distancing restrictions ease.

This obviously includes careful consideration and enforcement of modifications to the layout of premises, gaming machine spaces, cleaning of machines, and other operating practices. Many changes will be needed to reduce the risk of infection. These were not particularly healthy environments even before COVID-19 came along.

But there are wider public health issues to address, dealing with the personal impact of gambling, stress and mental health, and income loss and social inequalities that in turn drive other forms of ill health. Key to addressing these issues is awareness of the well-established relationship between social disadvantage and stress, and poor physical ⁶²and mental health outcomes. ⁶³ Australia has one of the highest per capita concentrations of EGMs, and they are regressively located in suburban and regional areas with disadvantaged populations. ⁶⁴

Because of this, gambling imposes disproportionate harm on sectors of the community that can, generally, least afford to absorb it. This exacerbates existing socio-economic disadvantage and stress, leading to rapid deterioration in mental health. It is also likely that suicide rates could increase significantly as a result of the economic and other consequences of the pandemic.⁶⁵ Access to EGMs will exacerbate this.

For details please see Appendix.

State and Territory Governments, advised by public health authorities, have a responsibility to be diligent in addressing the very real risks of both COVID-19 and other health and social harms that will result from the re-opening of electronic gaming venues.

Alcohol and Other Drug Sector

People who use alcohol and other drugs often have poorer general health, increasing their risk to severe disease from infections like COVID-19. Similar to the increase in alcohol use, there has been a reported increase in use of other drugs in response to the stressors including homelessness, job loss, and domestic and family violence over the past few months.

Treatment services have reported an increase in the number of people seeking access to services, at the same time as capacity at those services has been reduced to comply with distancing rules.

The sector has responded with changes including increased use of telehealth, flexibility in opioid pharmacotherapy dispensing, and other workforce changes.

Government should:

- provide additional funding to treatment services to address ongoing need as the economic impacts of COVID continue
- continue telehealth for AOD services

Conclusion

The response from Australia to the COVID-19 pandemic has in many ways been exemplary – unashamedly led by medical and scientific advice, bipartisan, cooperative and decisive. And we have relatively low incidence and fatality rates to show for it.

However, there are always lessons to be learned from the details, particularly in relation to communication, and the impacts of both the pandemic and the response on particular population groups. There has been evidence of significant increases in health-related investment due to COVID-19. However, there is no clear evidence or even active discussion of an increase in resourcing of public health expertise and capacity. Given this has been a public health crisis, which is yet to fully play out, and which many experts suggest will not be the last, this is not a sustainable situation.

As we move into the recovery phase, we must retain the sensible decision-making and think more holistically and long term than a simple snap back to business as usual:

- Sustained increased funding for public health at Federal and State and Territory levels.
- Support training and capacity building for the public health workforce.
- Establish an Australian independent designated public agency to provide scientific advice and education, and coordination assistance on communicable disease control, including all diseases of public health importance.
- The real living wage provided through JobSeeker must be retained to allow recipients to focus on attaining new jobs as the recovery progresses, instead of being plunged into poverty requiring a full time focus on basic survival needs.
- Services must be provided in recognition of the likely longer-term impacts of the pandemic.
- A healthy recovery is essential, recognising the links between human, economic and planetary health.
- Strong action on climate change, led by scientific advice, is required to address underlying vulnerabilities to pandemics including deforestation (making pandemics more likely to occur), and air pollution (making people more vulnerable to the effects of coronavirus).

The PHAA appreciates the opportunity to make this submission and the opportunity to contribute to a healthy recovery from COVID-19.

Please do not hesitate to contact me should you require additional information or have any queries in relation to this submission.

Terry Slevin

Chief Executive Officer

Public Health Association of Australia

12 June 2020

References

- 1. Bloomberg School of Public Health. What is public health? https://www.jhsph.edu/about/what-is-public-health/: Johns Hopkins University; [cited 2020 11 June].
- 2. PHAA President's Award to be given to the Australian Health Protection Principal Committee [press release]. https://www.phaa.net.au/documents/item/4523: PHAA, 12 May 2020.
- 3. World Health Organization. Constitution of the World Health Organization, 5th edition. https://www.who.int/about/who-we-are/constitution: WHO; 2005.
- 4. World Health Organization. COVID-19 Strategic Preparedness and Response (SPRP) Monitoring and Evaluation Framework. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2020.
- 5. United Nations. Sustainable Development Goals. https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/.
- 6. Somerset S, Robinson P, Kelsall H, editors. Foundation competencies for public health graduates in Australia, 2nd edition. Canberra: Council of Academic Public Health Institutions Australia; 2016.
- 7. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Household Impacts of COVID-19 Survey, 14-17 April 2020. ABS Catalogue no. 4940.0.

https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/86FF043DD0C1A1B8CA25856B0081D6F7?open document: ABS; 2020.

- 8. Williams S. Where Coronaviruses Come From. https://www.the-scientist.com/news-opinion/where-coronaviruses-come-from-67011. The Scientist. 2020 24 January.
- 9. Fan Y, Zhao K, Shi ZL, Zhou P. Bat Coronaviruses in China. Viruses. 2019;11(3).
- 10. Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, et al. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature. 2008;451(7181):990-3.
- 11. Woolhouse MEJ, Gowtage-Sequeria S. Host range and emerging and reemerging pathogens. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2005;11(12):1842-7.
- 12. Wildlife Health Australia. Welcome to Wildlife Health Australia https://www.wildlifehealthaustralia.com.au/ [cited 2020 11 June].
- 13. World Organisation for Animal Health. Statement of the OIE Wildlife Working Group: Wildlife Trade and Emerging Zoonotic Diseases. Paris, France: OIE; 2020.
- 14. Commonwealth Scientific Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO). Australian Centre for Disease Preparedness (formerly Australian Animal Health Laboratory) https://www.csiro.au/en/Research/Facilities/ACDP: CSIRO; [cited 2020 11 June].
- 15. Veterinary Medicine One Health Institute. PREDICT https://ohi.vetmed.ucdavis.edu/programs-projects/predict-project: UC Davis; [cited 2020 11 June].
- 16. Amuasi JH, Walzer C, Heymann D, Carabin H, Huong LT, Haines A, et al. Calling for a COVID-19 One Health Research Coalition. The Lancet. 2020;395(10236):1543-4.
- 17. Australian National Audit Office. Department of Health's Coordination of Communicable Disease Emergencies. ANAO Report No. 57 2016-17 Performance Audit. https://www.anao.gov.au/sites/default/files/ANAO_Report_2016-2017_57.pdf: ANAO; 2017.
- 18. Elphick K. Australian COVID-19 response management arrangements: a quick guide. Research Paper Series 2019-20. Canberra: Department of Parliamentary Services, Parliament of Australia; 2020.
- 19. Parliamentary Library Research Branch. COVID-19 Australian Government roles and responsibilities: an overview. Research Paper Series, 2019-20. Canberra: Department of Parliamentary Services, Parliament of Australia; 2020.
- 20. Doyle M. Navigating COVID-19 social distancing rules for Aboriginal people. https://intouchpublichealth.net.au/2020/05/12/distancing-police-discrimination/: Intouch Public Health, PHAA; 2020 12 May 2020.
- 21. McCall BJ, Young MK, Cameron S, Givney R, Hall R, Kaldor J, et al. The time has come for an Australian Centre for Disease Control. Aust Health Rev. 2013;37(3):300-3.
- 22. Australian Government. Australian Government response to the House of Representatives Standing Committee on Health and Ageing report: Diseases have no Borders: Report on the Inquiry into Health Issues across International Borders. Canberra: Australian Government; 2018.
- 23. Australian Medical Association. Australian National Centre for Disease Control (CDC): AMA Position Statement. Canberra: AMA; 2017.
- 24. Barnes P, Bergin A. Risk, resilience and crisis preparedness. In: Coyne J, Jennings P, editors. After COVID-19: Australia and the world rebuild (Volume 1). Canberra: Australian Strategic Policy Institute; 2020. p. 110-5.

- 25. Department of Health. Australian Health Protection Principal Committee (AHPPC) https://www.health.gov.au/committees-and-groups/australian-health-protection-principal-committee-ahppc: Ausrtalian Government; [updated 5 June 2020; cited 2020 11 June].
- 26. Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet. National COVID-19 Coordination Commission https://www.pmc.gov.au/nccc: Australian Government; [cited 2020 11 June].
- 27. Scheil-Adlung X, Sandner L. The case for paid sick leave. World Health Report (2010) Background Paper 9. https://www.who.int/healthsystems/topics/financing/healthreport/SickleaveNo9FINAL.pdf: WHO; 2010.
- 28. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Characteristics of Employment, Australia, August 2018. ABS Catalogue no. 6333.0.
- https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/Lookup/6333.0Main+Features1August%202018?OpenDocument: ABS; 2018.
- 29. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Characteristics of employment, Australia, August 2019. ABS Catalogue no. 6333.0. https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/6333.0August%202019?OpenDocument: ABS; 2019.
- 30. Wenham C, Smith J, Morgan R. COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak. The Lancet. 2020;395(10227):846-8.
- 31. Chiriboga D, Garay J, Buss P, Madrigal RS, Rispel LC. Health inequity during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cry for ethical global leadership. The Lancet. 2020;395(10238):1690-1.
- 32. Joint Open Letter. Call for a coordinated, equitable and human rights-based global response to COVID-19 http://section27.org.za/2020/04/call-for-a-coordinated-equitable-and-human-rights-based-global-response-to-covid-19/2020 [updated 14 April 2020; cited 2020 9 June].
- 33. Australian Border Force. Immigration detention and community statistics summary: 29 February 2020. https://www.homeaffairs.gov.au/research-and-stats/files/immigration-detention-statistics-29-february-2020.pdf: Australian Government; 2020.
- 34. Holt R, Watson M. New fears for asylum seekers in PNG and Nauru, https://www.thesaturdaypaper.com.au/news/immigration/2020/04/04/new-fears-asylum-seekers-png-and-nauru/15859188009645. The Saturday Paper, edition 295. 2020 4-10 April 2020.
- 35. Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Performance Framework 2017 Report. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2017.
- 36. Rickwood D, Deane FP, Wilson CJ, Ciarrochi J. Young people's help-seeking for mental health problems. Australian e-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health. 2005;4(3 (Supplement)).
- 37. Sritharan J, Sritharan A. Emerging Mental Health Issues from the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic. Journal of Health and Medical Sciences. 2020;3(2):157-62.
- 38. Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute. Has the impact of COVID-19 on cities and housing affected the incidence of family violence? AHURI Brief. https://www.ahuri.edu.au/news-and-media/covid-19/Has-the-impact-of-COVID-19-on-cities-and-housing-affected-the-incidence-of-family-violence: AHURI; 2020 5 May 2020.
- 39. Domestic Violence Resource Centre Victoria. For survivors during coronavirus https://www.dvrcv.org.au/help-advice/coronavirus-covid-19-and-family-violence/survivors-during-coronavirus#covid19: DVRCV; [updated 26 March 2020; cited 2020 11 June].
- 40. Zhang A, Pascoe A, Impiombato D, French E, Crichton-Standish H, Butler J, et al. Smashed like an avocado: The impact of COVID-19 on young Australians and opportunities for the future. In: Coyne J, Jennings P, editors. After COVID-19: Australia and the world rebuild (Volume 1). Canberra: Australian Strategic Policy Institute; 2020.
- 41. WHO Collaborative Study Team on the Role of Breastfeeding on the Prevention of Infant Mortality. Effect of breastfeeding on infant and child mortality due to infectious diseases in less developed countries: a pooled analysis. The Lancet. 2000;355(9202):451-5.
- 42. IFE Core Group. Infant and young child feeding in emergencies. Operational guidance for emergency relief staff and programme managers. Version 3.0. Oxford, UK: Emergency Nutrition Network; 2017.
- 43. Mihrshahi S, Myton R, Partridge SR, Esdaile E, Hardy LL, Gale J. Sustained low consumption of fruit and vegetables in Australian children: Findings from the Australian National Health Surveys. Health Promot J Austr. 2019;30(1):83-7.
- 44. Berntsen GK, Gammon D, Steinsbekk A, Salamonsen A, Foss N, Ruland C, et al. How do we deal with multiple goals for care within an individual patient trajectory? A document content analysis of health service research papers on goals for care. BMJ Open. 2015;5(12):e009403.
- 45. Thapar A, Cooper M, Rutter M. Neurodevelopmental disorders. Lancet Psychiatry. 2017;4(4):339-46.
- 46. Joint Open Letter. Statement of Concern COVID-19: Human rights, disability and ethical decision-making. https://dpoa.org.au/statement-of-concern-covid-19-human-rights-disability-and-ethical-decision-making/; 2020.
- 47. Department of Agriculture Water and the Environment. Analysis of Australia's food security and the COVID-19 pandemic https://www.agriculture.gov.au/abares/publications/insights/australian-food-security-and-COVID-19: Australian Government; [updated 8 May 2020; cited 2020 11 June].

- 48. Lindberg R, Lawrence M, Gold L, Friel S, Pegram O. Food insecurity in Australia: Implications for general practitioners. Australian Family Physician. 2015;44:859-62.
- 49. Public Health Association of Australia. Household food and nutrition security policy position statement. https://www.phaa.net.au/documents/item/3808: PHAA; 2019.
- 50. Seivwright AN, Callis Z, Flatau P. Food Insecurity and Socioeconomic Disadvantage in Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(2).
- 51. Carey R, Murphy M, Alexandra L. Our food supply has problems with equity, not quantity. https://pursuit.unimelb.edu.au/articles/our-food-supply-has-problems-with-equity-not-quantity: University of Melbourne; 2020.
- 52. Tarasuk V, Cheng J, De Oliveira C, Dachner N, Gundersen C, Kurdyak P. Association between household food insecurity and annual health care costs. CMAJ. 2015;187(14):E429-36.
- 53. Tiensin T, Kalibata A, Cole M. Ensuring food security in the era of COVID-19. https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/ensuring-food-security-in-the-era-of-covid-19/: Australian Strategic Policy Insitute; 2020 6 April 2020.
- 54. MBS Online Department of Health. COVID-19 Temporary MBS Telehealth Services http://www.mbsonline.gov.au/internet/mbsonline/publishing.nsf/Content/Factsheet-TempBB: Ausrtalian Government; [updated 27 May 2020; cited 2020 11 June].
- 55. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Household impacts of COVID-19 survey, 29 Apr-4 May 2020. ABS Catalogue no. 4940.0.

https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/50884FE62C2C85C0CA258576008061F0?open document: ABS; 2020.

- 56. Platt L, Grenfell P, Meiksin R, Elmes J, Sherman SG, Sanders T, et al. Associations between sex work laws and sex workers' health: A systematic review and meta-analysis of quantitative and qualitative studies. PLoS Med. 2018;15(12):e1002680.
- 57. Department of Health. Eighth National HIV Strategy 2018-2022. https://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/ohp-bbvs-1/\$File/HIV-Eight-Nat-Strategy-2018-22.pdf: Commonwealth of Australia; 2018.
- 58. Bates J, Berg R. Sex workers as safe sex advocates: Sex workers protect both themselves and the wider community from HIV. AIDS education and prevention: official publication of the International Society for AIDS Education. 2014;26(3):191-201.
- 59. Scarlet Alliance. COVID-19 impact and response for sex workers: Statement of impact http://www.scarletalliance.org.au/scarlet/COVID-19/: Scarlet Alliance; [cited 2020 11 June].
- 60. Respect Inc. Sex Work and COVID https://respectqld.org.au/covid/: Respect Qld; [updated 17 April 2020; cited 2020 11 June].
- 61. National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation. COVID-19 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory Group Communique, 29 May 2020 https://www.naccho.org.au/aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-advisory-group-on-covid-19-2/: NACCO; [cited 2020 11 June].
- 62. Wilkinson R, Marmot M, editors. Social Determinants of Health: The Solid Facts. 2nd ed. Denmark: World Health Organization; 2003.
- 63. Nurius PS, Uehara E, Zatzick DF. Intersection of Stress, Social Disadvantage, and Life Course Processes: Reframing Trauma and Mental Health. American Journal of Psychiatric Rehabilitation. 2013;16(2):91-114.
- Rintoul A, Livingstone C, Mellor A, Jolley. Modelling Vulnerability to Gambling Related Harm: How Disadvantage Predicts Gambling Losses. Addiction Research and Theory. 2012;21(4):329-38.
- 65. Stayner T. Australia's suicide rate could surge due to economic fallout of coronavirus. https://www.sbs.com.au/news/australia-s-suicide-rate-could-surge-due-to-economic-fallout-of-coronavirus. SBS News. 2020 7 May 2020.



Public Health Association of Australia submission on COVID-19: Appendix to main submission

Contact for recipient:

Committee Secretary **A:** Department of the Senate
PO Box 6100, Parliament House
Canberra ACT 2600

E: covid.sen@aph.gov.au T: (02) 6277 3892

Contact for PHAA:

Terry Slevin – Chief Executive Officer A: 20 Napier Close, Deakin ACT 2600 E: phaa@phaa.net.au T: (02) 6285 2373 12 June 2020

Contents

Introduction	3
Climate change	3
Alcohol	4
Access to medicines, vaccines, tests and medical devices – trade and intellectual prop	erty issues5
Criminal justice system	6
Mental health	7
Longer term impacts on young people	10
Infant Feeding	11
Early Childhood Education and Care	12
People with disabilities	13
Sex workers	14
Gambling	14
References	17

Introduction

This appendix to the PHAA submission provides further detail, primarily on the impacts on COVID-19 for particular population groups, and addresses specific issues for consideration in moving into the recovery phase. Material from the main submission is not repeated here, so this appendix should be read in conjunction with the main submission.

Climate change

We know that the health consequences of climate change are real and severe. Increasing levels of pollution impacting the quality of our air and water have been systematically increasing our vulnerability to disease for decades, just as deforestation and unabated climate change have been increasing a broad number of health risks to humans. Air pollution from traffic, pollution from inefficient energy use for cooking and heating, emissions from coal-fired power plants, and pollution from the burning of solid waste and agricultural practices, all combine to weaken the respiratory and circulatory systems. These harms account for 7 million worldwide premature deaths each year.

As one of the most exposed countries in the world, particularly to the effects of our biggest environmental killer – heat, Australia's policy responses on climate change to date have left us in an increasingly vulnerable position.²

COVID-19 has provided a rare glimpse of cleaner air in some of the most polluted cities and countries in the world. We have been shown what is possible, and fortunately, feasible policy options to pursue this path exist. We must take the opportunity we have been given, and economists around the world have shown that it would be not only the most environmentally responsible course of action, but would also be economically responsible.

With unprecedented fiscal stimulus packages, and the Australian Government advice being inappropriately dominated by the resources sector, there is a real and serious risk that the recovery from COVID-19 could take Australia further down the fossil fuel dependent path, and exacerbate climate change.

However, the recovery also presents an unprecedented opportunity to boost action against climate change through a recovery led by renewable energy and environmentally sustainable economic solutions.

There is emerging evidence that the pandemic is already leading to reductions in the deployment of renewable energy, and reduced investment in renewable energy research and development. We need to recognise this risk, and choose not to let it be Australia's path.³ Stimulating the economy needs to be done urgently, and solar and wind farms can be constructed more rapidly than coal or natural gas facilities, making them ideal for short-term stimulus.³

A study from Oxford University surveyed over 200 central bank officials, finance ministry officials and other economic experts from G20 countries, and identified 5 recommended directions of policy action:

- clean physical infrastructure
- building efficiency retrofits
- investment in education and training
- natural capital investment for ecosystem resilience and regeneration
- clean research and development.⁴

Action in these policy domains would deliver large economic multipliers quickly, while also shifting the trajectory of our emissions towards net zero.

Groups representing over 10 million health professionals globally have come together to call for a healthy recovery which:

- looks after the most vulnerable people
- provides workers with access to well-paying jobs that do not exacerbate pollution or nature degradation
- prioritises pedestrians, cyclists and public transport over private motor vehicles in cities
- ensures that water and air is protected and clean.⁵

It has been estimated that decarbonisation would lead to global GDP gains of US\$ 100 trillion by 2050, and in doing so quadruple the number of renewable energy jobs as part of net job gains in the energy sector, offsetting job declines in fossil fuel operations.⁶

Locally, similar reports and policy proposals for Australia have shown that a green recovery is an economically as well as environmentally sensible recovery.^{7,8} These reports confirm that gas is not an appropriate, environmentally or economically viable option to drive a recovery because of its high emissions and price volatility. Instead, we can and should replace fossil fuels and instead power Australia with renewable energy, use the opportunities provided by Australia's natural renewable resources to become a global zero emissions exporter of energy, products, minerals and services, and build resilience in our land and coasts.⁷

The Australia Institute has recommended that stimulus packages to come should:

- have high direct employment
- target those most impacted by the crisis
- provide useful projects with co-benefits
- target regional disadvantage.

The Institute's analysis of a range of policy options against these criteria found that while major projects such as addressing public housing stock, housing for the homeless, maintenance of public buildings, cancelling 'robodebts', electricity grid infrastructure for renewables, health messaging and mass tree plantings address most of these criteria, recently favoured policy options such as big business tax cuts, wages freezes and building coal fired power stations address few, if any of those criteria.⁸

Alcohol

For many people the fear, uncertainty, economic pressures and social isolation brought by COVID-19 may contribute to an increased likelihood of alcohol being used at riskier levels and in riskier ways.

Recent information indicates that 14-40% of young Australians are drinking more alcohol since the COVID-19 restrictions started. Data collected by YouGov Galaxy on behalf of the Foundation for Alcohol Research and Education (FARE) found that of those people who are drinking more alcohol:

- 37% have been drinking daily
- 32% were concerned about their or someone in their household's drinking
- 29% were drinking on their own more often
- 32% were drinking to cope with anxiety and stress and
- 24% had started drinking and ended up drinking more than they thought they would.

A Hall and Partners' survey taken in April 2020 shows commonly reported reasons for drinking more during COVID-19 are boredom (53%), anxiety and stress (45%), being tempted due to more time at home (43%), to keep spirits up (39%) and loneliness (20%).⁹

Already there has been increased demand for services, including general mental health services and alcohol-specific support services. The National Alcohol and Other Drug (AOD) Hotline has seen a doubling in calls in early 2020 compared with early 2019. An online early intervention and support application has seen a 28.6% increase in member engagement and a 35.2% increase in new registrations.⁹

There has also been a reported growth in alcohol-fuelled harms. A Women's Safety NSW survey of frontline domestic and family violence specialist workers found that since COVID-19 restrictions were introduced, 47% reported an increase in their caseload and about half (51%) reported an increase in involvement of alcohol in family violence situations.

A sharp increase has been seen in online sales^{10, 11} and increased engagement with alcohol advertising. A study from the Cancer Council WA and FARE revealed that over one hour on a Friday evening, one user was bombarded with an alcohol ad every 35 seconds, with nearly three quarters referencing the pandemic, and 16% encouraging people to use alcohol to cope, survive or feel better.¹²

It is important the Government messaging supports people to reduce their drinking during COVID-19. Some Government messaging, aimed at decreasing social isolation during distancing, may have inadvertently encouraged alcohol consumption.¹³

Access to medicines, vaccines, tests and medical devices: trade and intellectual property issues

Rules negotiated under trade agreements, patents and other intellectual property protections can lead to shortages of life-saving products like medicines, vaccines, diagnostic tests and medical devices during a public health emergency.

We have already seen examples where patents have created obstacles to access. Hundreds of patents on N95 face masks held by a US company have resulted in critical shortages of this vital personal protective equipment needed by health workers. ¹⁴ One hundred and fifty civil society organisations including Médecins Sans Frontières recently called on Gilead Sciences, maker of the potential COVID-19 treatment remdesivir, to release the patents it holds on the drug in more than 70 countries. ¹⁵ In fact the company had recently applied for an extra period of exclusivity from the US Food and Drug Administration, and only dropped its application after a public outcry.

The Commonwealth *Patents Act* 1990¹⁶ includes some important safeguards that enable patented inventions to be exploited without the consent of the patent owner. These are its *compulsory licensing* and *Crown use* provisions. Use of these provisions is permitted under the World Trade Organization's Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS),¹⁷ and Australia should be prepared to use them to prevent shortages of medical supplies.

Under the Act, the Federal Court can order that a compulsory license be granted for a patented invention under certain conditions, meaning that a third party (e.g. generic medicines manufacturer) can produce copies of the patented invention without the permission of the patent owner. However, one of the conditions for issuing a compulsory license is that "the applicant has tried for a reasonable period, but without success, to obtain authority from the patentee to exploit the original invention on reasonable terms and conditions" (Section 133, Para 3(c)). This condition may slow down the process if negotiations with the patent owner take a long time. Canada has passed emergency legislation¹⁸ to remove its requirement that negotiations with the patent owner take place before a license is issued during the COVID-19 pandemic. Australia should consider doing the same.

The *Patent Act's* Crown use provisions provide another mechanism allowing Federal, State and Territory governments, or a party authorised by a government to over-ride a patent in an emergency in order to provide a service primarily provided or funded by the Commonwealth or a State or Territory. These provisions may be faster and easier to use because they only require ministerial approval rather than an application to the Federal Court.

In addition to preparing to use the provisions in the Patents Act, the Australian Government should also ensure that we can import drugs manufactured under compulsory license in other countries, in cases where there is insufficient manufacturing capacity in Australia to produce them locally. To do this, Australia will need to revoke an earlier decision at the World Trade Organization to declare itself an "ineligible importing member". ¹⁹

To ensure equitable access to COVID-19 medicines, vaccines and tests at a global level, and in line with the World Health Assembly COVID-19 Response resolution,²⁰ the Australian Government should:

- commit to ensuring the open sharing of intellectual property, knowledge and data that will enable timely and affordable access for people of all countries to medical products to combat COVD-19, and join 37 other countries in endorsing the WHO's COVID-19 Technology Access Pool;
- use enforceable provisions in funding arrangements to ensure that publicly-funded research outcomes are affordable and accessible to all on a global scale
- utilise safeguards to facilitate in the TRIPS Agreement, as confirmed by the Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement, and support other countries' rights to use these flexibilities.

Criminal justice system

People incarcerated in prisons and youth detention centres are in a number of higher health risk categories, with increased rates of chronic conditions including diabetes, cardiovascular disease and asthma.

The profile of the Australian prisoner population is also ageing. On 30th June 2019, there were almost 6,000 prisoners aged 50 years or older,²¹ which is considered elderly because of the generally poor health of prisoners.

An outbreak of COVID-19 in prisons would have a substantial flow-on effect in the community. Prisons have significant number of people moving through them daily, including correctional staff, health workers, lawyers, educators, non-government support workers, and visitors. Many prisoners revolve in and out of the system regularly, with many of those entering prison being held on remand, and almost half of new admissions have been in prison in the previous 12 months.²²

Healthcare in prisons is often overstretched, and security issues mean that ensuring all people living and working in prison have their health monitored closely and regularly enough, and then quickly isolating those who contract the virus, is logistically challenging. The kinds of self-isolation and increased hygiene practices available in the community are not practicable in prison, where large groups often share bathrooms, laundry and eating areas. Air circulation may be poor where prisoners do not have the option to open windows. Alcohol-containing hand sanitiser may not be available.

Decarceration, as is occurring elsewhere globally, ²³ is a sensible emergency public health measure at this time to protect the health of prisoners, people working in prisons, and the wider community. While this has not been happening in Australia as a COVID response so far, alternative measures have included isolation for new prisoners, decreased time out of cells, and severe restrictions on visits. These measures may amount to prolonged periods of solitary confinement, resulting in unrest and mental ill-health.

There are reports that the Courts are taking the pandemic into consideration, including in the Government's duty of care to prisoners.²⁴ Responses such as increased availability of personal protective equipment and safe travel plans for newly released prisoners are welcome,²⁵ but the responses must include decreasing over-crowding and enabling distancing and hygiene recommendations to be put into practice without solitary confinement conditions.

Forensic mental health services providing treatment to persons on a forensic order who have experienced issues with the justice system and have been impacted by mental health issues are at considerably higher risk for COVID-19 symptoms. This is due to comorbidity of severe mental health diagnosis and its intersection with legal stressors for persons experiencing institutionalisation in forensic hospitals and mental health units within the prison system.²⁶

Mental health

Social and structural determinants of health (SDOH) influence the health and wellbeing of individuals, groups and communities. Key SDOH impacted by COVID-19 include socioeconomic position, social exclusion, social capital, employment and work, housing and residential environment (AIHW, 2016). Structural determinants include broader political and economic issues that impact on equity, justice and wellbeing. Undue pressure on one or more of these social determinants is known to have deleterious effects on an individual's mental health status.

Sub-optimal mental health is an established leading factor that can have adverse consequences on a wide range of biopsychosocial health outcomes (AIHW, 2016). Mental health can impact access to services and create a disjoint between the person in their environment; therefore, it is essential that accessible services redress stigma, enable and enhance access to mental health care in a variety of clinical, non-clinical and peer-based spaces.

Comparisons can be drawn from the Great Depression to the COVID-19 pandemic, but it is also clear that how individuals and systems interact and function in modern society is quite different. Therefore, our responses to the current pandemic must also be different. Despite social determinants impacting mental health the primary response for treatment continues to reflect a biomedical response that fails to address the trauma associated with distress, highlighting the need for sensitive and trauma informed services.

Some population groups have an increased risk of developing adverse psychosocial outcomes as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and Government response. This includes those with a heightened risk of infection such as the elderly, people with compromised immune function, people with disability, health care providers and people with pre-existing medical, psychiatric or substance use problems.²⁷ As such, significant media coverage has been given to mental health issues due to COVID-19, including promotion campaigns to encourage the general public to reach out to friends, family and mental health professionals and services for support. Quite rightly, focused attention has been given to people with existing mental health conditions, due to estimated significant increases in suicidal and other high risk behaviours, such as drug use.²⁸

Mental health risk is further amplified by the fear and uncertainty associated with the pandemic increasing anxiety and stress, which intensifies the symptoms of those with pre-existing psychiatric disorders.²⁹ In addition, the social isolation caused by the pandemic increases the time spent with family members and reduces access to normal support networks for those with pre-existing mental health conditions further increasing mental health risk.³⁰

The COVID-19 pandemic may worsen existing mental health problems and lead to more cases among children and adolescents. Many young people are socially isolated, have had their education interrupted and are anxious about their future. Further, schools play an important role in providing mental health support and counselling to students. This support is at risk with school closures, and so is the long-term health of students without access to this support. In addition, with university campus closures and the move to online learning, university students are expected to have a range of mental health effects including: feelings of frustration and anxiety, loneliness and isolation, loss of access to on-campus counselling services, suffer mental health issues as a result of the disruption, and experience financial issues as a result of having to travel home or losing employment opportunities. To-date the Federal Government has not provided additional support specifically to universities to ensure affected students are adequately supported during the COVID-19 pandemic.

In response to the pandemic, the Federal Government announced \$74 million dedicated to mental health services to support increased capacity and accessibility of care, including the delivery of mental health services via telehealth.³² While this is a welcome decision, as evidence suggests that telemental health services are similarly effective as in-person services, uptake has historically been slow, and not all Australians have the technology or Internet services available to participate in this model of care.^{31, 33} In addition, evidence has found that the effectiveness of telemental health commonly differs between people with depression, anxiety and PTSD.³⁴

Despite these barriers, telemental health provides a welcomed opportunity for mental health care services to continue to be delivered while social distancing regulations are in place to ensure services continue to be available for the community.³⁴ Many clinicians and professional organisations including the WHO have expressed their support in increasing the availability of mental health care services throughout the pandemic, with support to sustain the expansion of telemental health services post-pandemic.³⁴⁻³⁶

Due to the scale of the pandemic, the influence of social and structural determinants upon health and wellbeing outcomes for individuals, groups and society, especially the onset and consequences of existential crises, must not be underestimated. The contemporary definition of an existential crisis refers to a state of psychological being that can engender a sense of meaningless, emptiness or purpose seeking.³⁷ Existential crises can broadly present as a:

- Crisis of freedom and responsibility
- Crisis of death and mortality
- Crisis of isolation and connectedness
- Crisis of meaning and meaningless
- Crisis of emotion, experiences, and embodiment

Existential crises often result in elevated psychological distress, anxiety and/or depression, and can inhibit everyday functioning. It is commonly triggered by major life events such as a job loss, relationship breakdown (especially divorce), death of a friend or relative, diagnosis of a serious illness and experiencing a traumatic situation. Australians are currently experiencing or witnessing multiple events such as these due to COVID-19. Consequently, it is essential that we not underestimate the importance of preventative mental health strategies, and working over the long-term with Australians without an existing mental health condition, whose world has been turned upside down by the emergence of one or more of the major life events described.

A caring and compassionate society that cares for others is the best approach to suicide prevention. Australian governments need to prioritise promotion of mental health understanding and service provision to that end.

Preliminary data released by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (2020) and other agencies, such as ACOSS (2020), who work on the frontline with regards to social determinants of health, points to an impending mental health crisis if we do not successfully engage both the general public (who would not ordinarily seek help) and health care professionals who would not ordinarily screen for or address SDOH or existential crisis symptomology. This is particularly important as new modelling has predicted a 30% increase in new cases of common mental disorders a year in Australia.³⁸

We need to prioritise mental health promotion through a caring and compassionate society that cares for others – this is the best approach to suicide prevention. New modelling integrating economic and mental health data has shown that suicide will increase between 25 and 50 per cent if we fail to act.³⁹ Suicide is likely to become a more pressing concern as the pandemic spreads and has longer-term effects on the economy and in particular unemployment, reduced pay and economic recession. There is evidence that suggest these types of challenges have an established link with attempted suicide and increased psychological distress.²⁸

Many of the general risk factors for increased suicidal behaviour and suicide are relevant during times of pandemic such as domestic violence, alcohol consumption, social isolation, entrapment, loneliness and access to means but also stigma towards individuals with COVID-19 and their families.²⁸ It is likely that suicide risk factors among individuals residing in rural areas will be exacerbated during the COVID-19 epidemic and suicide rates may subsequently increase.

Key challenges for those in rural areas are exacerbating interpersonal risk factors due to social distancing, ready access to firearms, and onset or exacerbation of mental health symptoms. 40 Suicide increases are not inevitable if national mitigation efforts are put in place. The mental health system, including support hotlines, evidence-based online interventions should be supported to respond to this expected increase. 41

Finally, given the need for a rapid and high-volume response, we need to ensure there is accurate modelling as well as transparency of model codes to guide health policies.⁴²

The WHO recommend public policy solutions including:⁴³

- 1. Apply a whole-of-society approach to promote, protect and care for mental health.
- 2. Ensure widespread availability of emergency mental health and psychosocial support.
- 3. Support recovery from COVID-19 by building mental health services for the future.

Consistent with these recommendations governments should prioritise:

- 1. Promotion of access to mental health services
 - Awareness campaigns around COVID-19 impact on distress and information/education on help seeking. Access to mental health services has reduced by people with a chronic mental health condition.
 - Effective public health messaging and risk communication to reduce uncertainty and anxiety about the health and economic risks.
 - Continue telehealth Medicare item numbers following COVID-19
- 2. Strengthen mental health service capacity.

Mental health systems are at risk for losing capacity due to hospital spill over and clinic closure to promote social distancing. Innovative models to deliver mental health support to communities in the midst of a pandemic are needed to prevent a mental health crisis.⁴⁴ In addition, access to crisis services has increased (including kids helpline, 1800 respect and Men's Helpline. A comprehensive public health response to the pandemic must include:

- Attention to the psychological aspects of hospitalisation for patients, families, and staff affected by COVID-19
- Planning for emergency and acute psychiatric patient care if hospitals become overwhelmed with COVID-19 patients, and
- Innovations for providing mental health care in communities while social distancing is required and health system resources are strained.⁴⁴
- Improved access to alternative mental health services such as peer run services, groups and therapeutic communities
- Improved access to digital technology mental health services, including telemental health. The shift to telehealth represents a major pivot of the sector, which would have longerterm benefits.
- Additional support to university to ensure they can counter the mental health impacts by ensuring curriculum planning and guidance sessions are available and providing telemental health services where required.⁴⁵
- 3. Increase investment in primary prevention and promotion of mental health and wellbeing using a whole of society approach that seeks to address the social, economic and environmental determinants of health.
 - Increase community resilience to enable adaptation in times of uncertainty
 - Implement strategies to increase community connectedness
 - Implement strategies to increase social and economic support

Longer term impacts on young people

Casual employment makes up about 25% of the Australian workforce, with 54% of these workers aged under 25. Young people are also more likely than older workers to have been with their casual employer for less than 12 months, rendering them ineligible for JobKeeper benefits. 46 Industries with the highest prevalence of casual workers, such as hospitality, retail and accommodation, were among the first and hardest hit by the distancing restrictions in response to the virus.

Grattan Institute analysis has found that those on lower-incomes are twice as likely as high-income earners to be out of work, and that young people and women are likely to be most affected because they are more likely to be employed in the occupations and industries most affected. 47 More than half of young people indicate that COVID-19 has affected their purchasing decisions – higher than any other age group.

Lost income flows through to impact other essential areas of life such as housing. The Australian Government has announced a moratorium on evictions due to tenants being unable to pay their rent because they have lost or reduced employment during COVID-19. While this is a sensible measure, further measures have been suggested including a moratorium on rent increases, direct financial assistance to tenants in hardship, and rent price controls.⁴⁸

One of the measures the Government has taken in response to COVID-19 has been to allow early release of superannuation funds. This measure has been widely taken up by the public. By 25 May 2020, \$10.6 billion had been taken from superannuation funds from 1.59 million applications. ⁴⁹ There are reports that of these, almost 500,000 have been from young people, with those aged under 30 being the most likely to apply, despite a potential long-term reduction of \$100,000 in their retirement. 50

Simultaneously, Governments during this crisis have produced lists of 'essential workers'- health care workers, teachers, supermarket workers, delivery and garbage truck drivers, cleaners and service station attendants. Notably absent from such lists were highly paid occupations such as merchant bankers, stock brokers, hedge fund managers, sports stars and internet marketing influencers.

10

One of the lessons Australia should take from this experience is to consider who in our society we value in terms of financial reward and security, compared with who we value in terms of being essential to our society. There is currently a serious mismatch between those, and casual workers, many of whom are young people, are consistently on the wrong end of that mismatch in values.

Infant Feeding

The World Health Organization states that Infant and Young Child Feeding emergency preparedness should be a priority for all nations. In 2010 the World Health Assembly urged member states, including Australia, to ensure that they had national emergency preparedness plans in line with the OG-IFE.⁵¹ The 2019 Australian National Breastfeeding Strategy acknowledged this and included it in their priority areas for action. However, an audit of Australian National and State/territory emergency plans found that there was a dearth of planning dealing with the needs of infants and young children. This included in pandemic preparedness plans.⁵²

The development of policies and clinical guidelines regarding infants in infectious disease outbreaks is challenging. For the general population, isolation of the uninfected from the infected, and the avoidance of sharing bodily fluids, are fundamental in preventing disease transmission and achieving good health outcomes. The situation of mothers and infants is different to that of other adults and older children, and necessitates a weighing of the risks of disease transmission against the importance that breastfeeding and maternal proximity plays in supporting infant and maternal physical and mental health. That infants and children cannot care of themselves, cannot employ risk mitigation strategies such as hand washing, avoiding touching the mouth etc and that they interact with others who may be vulnerable also makes things challenging.

It was concerning that in the early stages of the pandemic there was little if any, coordinated, authoritative communication from a national level to the state health departments regarding appropriate care and management of mothers and babies in the early post-natal period, or even from the health departments to the hospital health services. This meant that many hospitals were writing their own guidelines with lack of expert input. Unfortunately, in Australia, some hospital practices, not based on evidence, have contributed to the unnecessary separation of the mother and the baby after giving birth. Some state health departments and hospitals were turning to the Australian Breastfeeding Association (ABA) for guidance. Similarly, information regarding implications for early childhood centres was needed. Fortunately, ABA was very quick to create resources for both health professionals and families and kept this up to date with the information coming from the World Health Organization, UNICEF and RANZCOG.

Motivated expert academics, volunteers and organisations like the ABA have exerted efforts and provided immediate support to ensure that correct, unbiased and evidence-based recommendations, clinical practices and messages for the health services, and families were disseminated to the largest possible audience. When a deadly virus is rampant the mother and baby relationship should be protected at all costs. Babies are safest when kept with their mother and breastfeeding supported.

As in all emergencies where food security is a concern, there needs to be messages explaining the importance of not weaning from breastfeeding at this time. Breastfeeding IS food security. There should also be widespread public messaging around the process of relactation and where to go to get support to do this. ABA noticed an increase in calls from mothers who were wanting to relactate to protect their baby from the virus and to ensure a supply of food in the situation of panic buying of formula.

Breastfeeding continues to be ignored as a practice that provides resilience in all types of emergencies, including pandemics.

Early Childhood Education and Care

The challenges highlighted throughout the current emergency suggest significant vulnerabilities for the ECEC sector for both children and staff. Many centres closed down completely with children being kept at home. Cash flow in ECEC centres was a factor for some centres unable to make up-front wage payments for eligible Job Keeper employees.

Many workers in the ECEC setting are employed in casual and temporary contracts, and as widespread centre closures occurred, many workers in the sector were stood down and ineligible for Job Keeper wage support. The current plight of ECEC centres presents obvious challenges for families and ECEC providers when services are required to return to pre-COVID-19 availability as containment restrictions are relaxed.

Factors affecting family wellbeing that have attracted media attention have included employment and domestic violence reports. Other factors such as food security, directly impacted by family income, have received sporadic attention in the form of reports of higher levels of reliance on charitable meal provision. The early childhood education and care (ECEC) sector provides an established, regulated and funded support to optimise children's lifelong potential, across many facets including a healthy food environment.

An example of an undesirable outcome of COVID-19 restrictions has been the demise of cook-provided food for centre-based childcare. ECEC food services have potential to provide a protective mechanism for children from developing non-communicable diseases through promoting lifelong healthy eating and other healthy lifestyle habits. Most of our children attend centre-based childcare where they can receive up to two-thirds of their daily nutrition, provided by mostly cook-supported centres. In response to the containment measures required for COVID-19 containment, centres are replacing cook-provided services with lunchboxes provided by parents. Evidence from Australia and internationally is unanimous that food provided from home is not consistent with national dietary recommendations, and services can influence this.⁵³

Systematic reviews show that nutrition best practices and healthy food environments are related to positive dietary outcomes in children attending ECEC settings, and that healthy eating habits learnt during this small developmental window, track into adulthood.⁵⁴ Healthy nutrition is supported by ECEC national accreditation requirements but is not legislated or formalised as policy. A small investment by Governments in ECEC settings as protected places for preventative health will have positive, long-term outcomes to children's health and wellbeing. Moreover, ECEC services support parents and their wellbeing by ensuring children receive healthy food that meets children's development needs while also developing long-term healthy food preferences and eating habits. Stress experienced by working parents with young children is associated with poorer family food choices and fewer family diets that meet national dietary guidelines.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ Providing children with cooked meals and a healthy food environment while in care is associated with healthier nutrition at home, food security and less burden for already-stressed families.

Plans that include a safe return to usual care and re-uptake of services, ensuring availability of places for working families and vulnerable families should be part of the National COVID-19 response agenda and appropriately monitored. State and Commonwealth co-ordination of sector support models should be orientated towards sector sustainability with transparent ongoing oversight and review as the lifting of containment restrictions continues. By undertaking an orderly response and review of ECEC sector support in the wake of the COVID-19 phenomenon ongoing stability for children's health, education and wellbeing will be ensured and demonstrate effective governmental actions in times of emergency.

People with disabilities

Mental health impacts have been identified as negative outcomes associated with containment measures in response to COVID-19 as families have had disrupted access to usual specialised clinical supports, participation in research studies and specialist education services. The emergence of the NDIS and challenges associated with the rollout and access has highlighted the tensions and often artificial distinctions between separate health and disability services, making it very confusing for many people to navigate. Therefore, understanding these issues for families will support better design, less duplication and better clarity for families of children with disabilities. This has never been more relevant than at times of crisis as experienced by families during the emerging reorientation of services responding to the COVID-19 pandemic.

A reliance upon TeleHealth options for delivering care has posed additional constraints as families and caregivers grapple with unfamiliar technology solutions, cancelled appointments, additional requirements to be flexible and to have access to up-to-date, often costly technology. Financial challenges have meant that access to phone and internet has also been limited for some therefore limiting connection with health and support services. As many caregivers managing those with a disability are identified as also having a disability, for many, this imposes compounded complexity with potential for additional economic, health and education implications.

In meeting the complex health needs of our patients and families, particularly those managing disability, there is potential for the provision of fragmented care that is system-centric, not patient or family-centred. In recent weeks, the emergence of a serious threat to our health service provision, in the form of the COVID-19 pandemic has prompted all service providers to rethink current systems, reorienting front line services to address consumer needs as evolving disaster management strategies have become necessary. Core values identified at the centre of health service providers highlight a commitment to patient and family-centred care. However, opportunities may exist for improvement in the way our services are delivered, in particular, the involvement of consumers in planning and messaging changes would be imperative.

Families managing a patient with a diagnosis of a disability often require a range of health and social services to meet the needs associated with the diagnosis. ^{58, 59} Compounding this issue, for many, the existence of co-morbid conditions and disability of the carer has the effect of complicating the requirements of individuals and their families managing disability. ⁵⁸⁻⁶¹ It is estimated that 80% of people with a disability are likely to experience a mental health problem at some stage, and that they are extremely vulnerable at times when health and mental health services are relying on technology to deliver services.

The recent Statement of Concern⁶² by experts in human rights, bioethics and disability outlines a framework of human rights principles for ethical decision-making for people with disability, which is consistent with the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities:⁶³

- 1. health care should not be denied or limited to people with disability on the basis of impairment
- 2. people with disability should have access to health care, including emergency and critical health care, on the basis of equality with others and based on objective and non-discriminatory clinical criteria
- 3. health care should not be denied or limited because a person with disability requires reasonable accommodation or adjustment

- 4. health care should be provided on the basis of free and informed consent of the person with disability
- 5. health care should not be denied or limited based on quality of life judgements about the person with disability
- 6. ethical decision-making frameworks should be designed with close consultation and active involvement of people with disability and their representative organisations.

In the wake of the COVID-19 national disaster response, prioritising a review of impacts for people diagnosed with disability and their families and carers is urgently called for.

Sex workers

The COVID-19 epidemic has both revealed and exacerbated vulnerabilities among different populations, and an obligation arises to specifically consult with vulnerable and marginalised populations to avoid epistemic injustice.^{64, 65}

COVID-19 and the consequential business and travel restrictions in Australia have reduced work available, and impacted sex workers' workplace health and safety strategies. Scarlet Alliance, the national peak sex worker organisation in Australia, has identified wide ranging impacts of COVID-19 on sex workers which include housing, food and financial insecurity, barriers to access essential health care, as well as other impacts consequential to lost earnings.⁶⁶

State based peer sex worker organisations in Australia have long-established networks of trust with sex workers, as well as a history of strong partnership with state and territory health departments. These have included the distribution and development of COVID-19 specific resources for sex workers in Chinese, Korean, Thai and Vietnamese, skills development programs for sex workers to adapt their businesses to provide online rather than in-person services, and information about accessing the government's JobSeeker and JobKeeper programs. ^{66, 67} A community funded emergency support fund for sex workers has been set up and by early May 2020 had raised and distributed to sex workers over \$50,000 from more than 600 donations. ⁶⁸

Australian sex worker organisations call for the provision of crisis funding to Scarlet Alliance and state and territory member sex worker organisations, and removal of barriers to access income support, healthcare, prevention of workplace and housing evictions and other essential services.⁶⁶

The involvement of sex worker organisations in the development of return to work timelines and health guidelines is critical⁶⁹ and New Zealand's government and industry discussions provide a consultative model for Australia to emulate.^{70,71}

Gambling

Australia's 194,000 electronic gaming machines (EGMs) are mainly located in hotels and clubs, and in casinos. These venues also provide other forms of gambling, including Keno, wagering (often using terminals to place bets) and in casinos, table games. All these gambling venues have been closed during the restrictions arising from the COVID-19 pandemic.

State governments, heavily lobbied by the gambling industry and venue owners, are planning to reopen these venues. However, there are a number of public health issues to address to ensure reopening these will not endanger the health and wellbeing of those who use or work in these venues.

Transmission of infectious diseases

As part of our comprehensive measures to prevent infectious diseases spreading, it is essential that gambling venues reopen only when all changes to physical layout and cleaning procedures are fully implemented, in accordance with the best advice from qualified public health experts, and with the approval of State and Commonwealth Chief Medical or Health Officers and their delegates.

This includes arrangements for physical distancing, calculation and effective enforcement of a maximum occupant capacity for each gambling room to be reopened, and cleaning procedures for EGMs or other equipment utilised for gambling activities (chips, cards, wagering terminals, terminals for keno or automated table games etc). It may also be desirable to impose 'session limits' on patrons to limit time spent in specific gambling rooms and thus reduce likelihood of transmission of pathogens.

The health and safety of staff is also of paramount concern, both for their own protection and to avoid the transmission of disease to others. All necessary measures should be taken to ensure this, including the supply and use of personal protective equipment where required. Again, such arrangements and procedures must be subject to approval by State and Commonwealth Chief Medical and Health Officers and their delegates.

Mental health issues

There is a well-established association between the incidence of mental health conditions and the use of EGMs and other forms of gambling.⁷² Habitual or addictive use of EGMs exacerbates existing mental health issues, and may also precipitate the onset of some mental health conditions. People with established habitual or addictive gambling behaviours have been constrained from using many forms of terrestrial gambling for some time. Some may have migrated to, or increased, online gambling activity.⁷³ However, it appears that this has not substituted for more than a fraction of terrestrial gambling activity. For example, there are reports that online gambling activity appears to have increased by about two-thirds⁷⁴ (equivalent to \$2 billion per annum) compared with \$15 billion per annum lost to electronic gaming machines.

As with other addictive products, some people with mental health issues utilise gambling as a means of 'self-medication', ⁷⁵ as it appears to stimulate release of neurochemicals that provide temporary relief of some symptoms. However, the costs of gambling – particularly EMG gambling – are very high, and any relief is both short-lived and likely to exacerbate existing disorders.

It is important therefore, that when EGM and other gambling venues reopen, due consideration is given to the likelihood that a significant number of gamblers will be drawn to gamble in order to relieve symptoms of anxiety and stress. This may include some who have been 'casual' gamblers in the past.

There is also a strong likelihood that gamblers with mental health conditions who have modified their gambling behaviour during the COVID-19 restrictions will relapse in response to the availability of EMGS or other gambling, and to escape temporarily from the anxiety and stress of the current situation.

Disadvantage and stress

EGM venues in particular are disproportionately located in areas of social disadvantage and stress.⁷⁶ These locations are highly lucrative for gambling operators, for reasons noted above. In some Australian jurisdictions, very large and highly lucrative EGM venues are located in the most disadvantaged suburbs and towns (e.g. Fairfield in Sydney or Dandenong in Melbourne).

The impact of the COVID-19 restrictions on the social distribution of disadvantage and income is not yet clear. It is unlikely to be evenly distributed across society, 77 and there is a likelihood that already disadvantaged workers (for example) will be further disadvantaged by the impact of job losses and business closures. The stress and heightened disadvantage of such impacts will induce a proportion of those affected to engage in risky behaviour, including gambling, in order to either (mistakenly) seek to improve their financial position, or to relieve stress and anxiety. People who have no or reduced income as a result of the loss of casual employment, for example, will be disproportionately affected.

The potential for gambling to greatly exacerbate disadvantage and stress in already disadvantaged communities is greatly heightened by this continuing situation.⁷⁸

Family violence

The relative density of EGMs in local areas is also a risk factor for family violence.⁷⁹ Access to EGM venues in the current economically difficult situation is only likely to lead to further increased rates of family violence.

State and Territory Government responsibilities

Gambling harms many people. Most gambling revenue, for example, comes from people with significant or major gambling disorders. ⁸⁰ There is a significant likelihood that reopening gambling venues will make the current difficult situation worse for many people. Most likely to be affected will be those already experiencing significant disadvantage, stress, and associated impaired health and wellbeing.

For these people, their dependents and friends, employers and neighbours, ⁸¹ existing impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic will be greatly heightened. This in turn will lead to increased rates of illness, suicide and significant detrimental impacts across affected communities.

References

- 1. Watts N, Amann M, Arnell N, Ayeb-Karlsson S, Belesova K, Boykoff M, et al. The 2019 report of The Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: ensuring that the health of a child born today is not defined by a changing climate. The Lancet. 2019;394(10211):1836-78.
- 2. Beggs PJ, Zhang Y, Bambrick H, Berry HL, Linnenluecke MK, Trueck S, et al. The 2019 report of the MJA-Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: a turbulent year with mixed progress. The Medical journal of Australia. 2019.
- 3. Glasser R. Climate change. In: Coyne J, Jennings P, editors. After COVID-19: Australian and the world rebuild (Volume 1). Canberra: Austalian Strategic Policy Institute; 2020. p. 105-9.
- 4. Hepburn C, O'Callaghan B, Stern N, Stiglitz J, Zenghelis D. Will COVID-19 fiscal recovery packages accelerate or retard progress on climate change. Smith School Working Paper No. 20-02. Oxford University; 2020.
- 5. Joint Open Letter. In support of a #HealthyRecovery https://healthyrecovery.net/2020 [updated 26 May 2020; cited 2020 9 June].
- 6. Renewable energy can support resilient and equitable recovery [press release]. https://www.irena.org/newsroom/pressreleases/2020/Apr/Renewable-energy-can-support-resilient-and-equitable-recovery: IRENA, 20 April 2020.
- 7. Baxter T, Bourne G, Weisbrot E, Stock A, Steffen W, Rice M. Primed for Action: A resilient recovery for Australia. Climate Council of Australia; 2020.
- 8. Denniss R, Grudnoff M, Richardson D. Design principles for fiscal policy in a pandemic: How to create jobs in the short term and lasting benefits in the long term. Canberra: The Australia Institute; 2020.
- 9. Hello Sunday Morning. DayBreak https://hellosundaymorning.org/daybreak/ Hello Sunday Morning; 2020 [cited 2020 10 June].
- 10. Woolworths Group. Third quarter sales results. Financial Year 2020 13 weeks to 5 April 2020. https://www.woolworthsgroup.com.au/content/Document/Q3'20%20Sales%20Announcement_FINAL.pdf: Woolworths Group; 2020.
- 11. Waters C. 'Running a million miles an hour': Online alcohol sales soar. https://www.smh.com.au/business/small-business/running-a-million-miles-an-hour-online-alcohol-sales-soar-20200407-p54hx3.html. Sydney Morning Herald. 2020 13 April 2020.
- 12. Foundation for Alcohol Research and Education, Cancer Council Western Australia. An alcohol ad every 35 seconds. A snapshot of how the alcohol industry is using a global pandemic as a marketing opportunity. https://fare.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020-05-08-CCWA-FARE-An-alcohol-ad-every-35-seconds-A-snapshot-final.pdf: FARE and CCWA; 2020.
- 13. Department of Health. Coronavirus (COVID-19) campaign resources https://www.health.gov.au/resources/videos/coronavirus-video-stay-at-home: Australian Government; [updated 9 June 2020; cited 2020 11 June].
- 14. Health Policy Watch. The Netherlands joins COVID-19 IP pool iniative; Kentucky Governor requests 3M release N95 patent. https://www.healthpolicy-watch.org/the-netherlands-joins-covid-19-ip-pool-initiative-kentucky-governor-requests-3m-release-n95-patent/: Health Policy Watch; 2020 8 April 2020.
- 15. Open Letter to Gilead. Civil society urges Gilead to take immediate action to ensure access to potential COVDI-19 treatment. https://msfaccess.org/open-letter-civil-society-urges-gilead-take-immediate-action-ensure-access-potential-covid-19: Medecins Sans Frontiers Access Campaign; 2020.
- 16. Patents Act 1990 http://www5.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/pa1990109/index.html, (1990).
- 17. World Trade Organization. Overview: the TRIPS Agreement https://www.wto.org/english/tratop e/trips e/intel2 e.htm: WTO; [cited 2020 11 June].
- 18. Lexchin J. Canada's coronavirus aid packages guards against drug shortages with compulsory licensing. https://theconversation.com/canadas-coronavirus-aid-package-guards-against-drug-shortages-with-compulsory-licensing-134974: The Conversation; 2020 31 March 2020.

- 19. Open Letter to WTO. Open letter asking 37 WTO Members to declare themselves eligible to import medicines manufactured under compulsory license in another country, under 31bis of TRIPS Agreement. https://www.keionline.org/32707: Knowledge Ecology International; 2020 7 April 2020.
- 20. World Health Organization. Seventy-third World Health Assembly COVID-19 Response: Draft resolution A73/CONF./1 Rev. 1. https://apps.who.int/gb/e/e_wha73.html#resolutions: WHO; 2020.
- 21. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Prisoners in Australia, 2019. ABS Catalogue no. 4517.0. https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/4517.0: ABS; 2019.
- 22. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. The health of Australia's prisoners 2018. Cat. no. PHE 246. Canberra AIHW; 2019.
- 23. Oberman K. COVID-19 prisoner releases are not a matter of mercy, but of justice https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/covid-19-prisoner-releases-not-mercy-but-justice/: World Economic Forum; 2020 [updated 27 April 2020; cited 2020 5 May].
- 24. Human Rights Law Centre. UPDATED 2 May 2020: Supreme Court rules Victorian Government prima facie breached duty of care to person in prison in their response to COVID-19 pandemic https://www.hrlc.org.au/news/2020/5/1/supreme-court-vic-govt-duty-of-care-prison-covid-19: HRLC; 2020 [cited 2020 5 May].
- 25. Update on Coronavirus Measures 5 May 2020 [press release]. https://www.pm.gov.au/media/update-coronavirus-measures-050520: Commonwealth of Australia2020.
- 26. Hospital and Healthcare. Degree arms health managers for complex situations https://www.hospitalhealth.com.au/content/facility-admin/news/degree-arms-health-managers-for-complex-situations-912717791#axzz6P1GPPK6T: Hospital and Healthcare; [updated 8 May 2020; cited 2020 11 June].
- 27. Pfefferbaum B, North CS. Mental health and the COVID-19 pandemic. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2020.
- 28. Gunnell D, Appleby L, Arensman E, Hawton K, John A, Kapur N, et al. Suicide risk and prevention during the COVID-19 pandemic. The Lancet Psychiatry. 2020;7(6):468-71.
- 29. Ornell F, Schuch J, B., Sordi AO, Kessler FHP. "Pandemic fear" and COVID-10: mental health burden and strategies. Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry. 2020;42(3):232-5.
- 30. Usher K, Bhullar N, Durkin J, Gyamfi N, Jackson D. Family violence and COVID-19: Increased vulnerability and reduced options for support. International Journal of Mental Health Nursing. 2020.
- 31. Golberstein E, Wen H, Miller BF. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and Mental Health for Children and Adolescents. JAMA Pediatr. 2020.
- 32. \$1.1 billion to support more mental health, Medicare and domestic violence services [press release]. https://www.pm.gov.au/media/11-billion-support-more-mental-health-medicare-and-domestic-violence-services-0: Government of Australia, 29 March 2020 2020.
- 33. Bashshur RL, Shannon GW, Bashshur N, Yellowlees PM. The Empirical Evidence for Telemedicine Interventions in Mental Disorders. Telemedicine and e-Health. 2016;22(2):87-113.
- 34. Zhou X, Snoswell CL, Harding LE, Bambling M, Edirippulige S, Bai X, et al. The Role of Telehealth in Reducing the Mental Health Burden from COVID-19. Telemedicine journal and e-health: the official journal of the American Telemedicine Association. 2020;26(4):377-9.
- 35. Ohannessian R, Duong TA, Odone A. Global Telemedicine Implementation and Integration Within Health Systems to Fight the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Call to Action. JMIR Public Health Surveill. 2020;6(2):e18810.
- 36. Hickie I, Duckett S. Coronavirus has boosted telehealth care in mental health, so let's keep it up. https://theconversation.com/coronavirus-has-boosted-telehealth-care-in-mental-health-so-lets-keep-it-up-137381: The Conversation, 6 May 2020; 2020. Contract No.: 6 May 2020.
- 37. Healthline. What is an existential crisis, and how do I break through it? https://www.healthline.com/health/existential-crisis: Healthline; [cited 2020 11 June].
- 38. McGorry P. Now to flatten curve on mental health. https://www.orygen.org.au/About/News-And-events/2020/Now-to-flatten-curve-on-mental-health?viewmode=0: Orygen; 2020 15 May 2020.
- 39. Modelling shows path to suicide prevention in covid-recovery [press release]. https://www.sydney.edu.au/news-opinion/news/2020/05/13/modelling-shows-path-to-suicide-prevention-in-covid-recovery.html: University of Sydney, 13 May 2020 2020.

- 40. Monteith LL, Holliday R, Brown TL, Brenner LA, Mohatt NV. Preventing Suicide in Rural Communities During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Rural Health. 2020.
- 41. Kawohl W, Nordt C. COVID-19, unemployment, and suicide. The Lancet Psychiatry. 2020;7(5):389-90.
- 42. Barton CM, Alberti M, Ames D, Atkinson J-A, Bales J, Burke E, et al. Call for transparency of COVID-19 models. Science (New York, NY). 2020;368(6490):482-3.
- 43. United Nations. Policy brief: COVID-19 and the Need for Action on Mental Health. https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/un-policy-brief-covid-and-mental-health-final.pdf; UN; 2020.
- 44. Choi KR, Heilemann MV, Fauer A, Mead M. A Second Pandemic: Mental Health Spillover From the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19). Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association. 2020:1078390320919803.
- 45. Zhai Y, Du X. Addressing collegiate mental health amid COVID-19 pandemic. Psychiatry Res. 2020;288:113003.
- 46. Gilfillan G. COVID-19: Impacts on casual workers in Australia a statistical snapshot. Research Paper Series, 2019-20.
- https://parlinfo.aph.gov.au/parlInfo/download/library/prspub/7262636/upload_binary/7262636.pdf: Department of Parliamentary Services; 2020.
- 47. Coates B, Cowgill M, Chen T, Mackey W. Shutdown: estimating the COVID-19 employment shock. Grattan Institute; 2020.
- 48. Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute. Unpacking the challenges in the rental market during COVID-19: What are the policy options and how is each state faring? AHURI Brief. https://www.ahuri.edu.au/news-and-media/covid-19/unpacking-the-challenges-in-the-rental-market-during-covid-19: AHURI; 2020 23 April 2020.
- 49. Australian Prudential Regulation Authority. COVID-19 early release scheme Issue 4 https://www.apra.gov.au/covid-19-early-release-scheme-issue-4: APRA; [updated 25 May 2020; cited 2020 11 June].
- 50. Borys S. Coronavirus financial concerns have young people accessing their superannuation. ABC News. 2020 1 June 2020.
- 51. World Health Organization. Sixty-third World Health Assembly, Resolutions and Decisions Annexes, WHA63/2010/REC/1. https://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/WHA63.23 iyon en.pdf?ua=1: WHO; 2010.
- 52. International Baby Food Action Network (IBFAN) Asia. World Breastfeeding Trends Initiative Report: Australia. http://www.worldbreastfeedingtrends.org/GenerateReports/report/WBTi-Australia-2018.pdf: IBFAN; 2018.
- 53. Mihrshahi S, Myton R, Partridge SR, Esdaile E, Hardy LL, Gale J. Sustained low consumption of fruit and vegetables in Australian children: Findings from the Australian National Health Surveys. Health Promot J Austr. 2019;30(1):83-7.
- 54. Seward K, Finch M, Yoong SL, Wyse R, Jones J, Grady A, et al. Factors that influence the implementation of dietary guidelines regarding food provision in centre based childcare services: A systematic review. Prev Med. 2017;105:197-205.
- 55. Hesketh K, Waters E, Green J, Salmon L, Williams J. Healthy eating, activity and obesity prevention: a qualitative study of parent and child perceptions in Australia. Health Promot Int. 2005;20(1):19-26.
- 56. Devine CM, Jastran M, Jabs J, Wethington E, Farell TJ, Bisogni CA. "A lot of sacrifices:" Work–family spillover and the food choice coping strategies of low-wage employed parents. Social Science & Medicine. 2006;63(10):2591-603.
- 57. Bauer KW, Hearst MO, Escoto K, Berge JM, Neumark-Sztainer D. Parental employment and workfamily stress: Associations with family food environments. Social Science & Medicine. 2012;75(3):496-504.
- 58. Berntsen GK, Gammon D, Steinsbekk A, Salamonsen A, Foss N, Ruland C, et al. How do we deal with multiple goals for care within an individual patient trajectory? A document content analysis of health service research papers on goals for care. BMJ Open. 2015;5(12):e009403.
- 59. Thapar A, Cooper M, Rutter M. Neurodevelopmental disorders. Lancet Psychiatry. 2017;4(4):339-46.
- 60. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Disability, Ageing and Carers Australia: Summary of findings, 2018 ABS Catalogue no. 4430.0. https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/4430.0: ABS; 2019.

19

- 61. Monterde D, Vela E, Cleries M, Garcia-Eroles L, Roca J, Perez-Sust P. Multimorbidity as a predictor of health service utilization in primary care: a registry-based study of the Catalan population. BMC Fam Pract. 2020;21(1):39.
- 62. Joint Open Letter. Statement of Concern COVID-19: Human rights, disability and ethical decision-making. https://dpoa.org.au/statement-of-concern-covid-19-human-rights-disability-and-ethical-decision-making/; 2020.
- 63. United Nations. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities.html: UN; 2007.
- 64. Kidd IJ, Medina J, Pohlhaus Jr G, editors. The Routledge Handbook of Epistemic Injustice. London and New York: Routledge; 2019.
- 65. Ahmad A, Chung R, Eckenwiler L, Ganguli-Mitra A, Hunt M, Richards R, et al. What does it mean to be made vulnerable in the era of COVID-19? The Lancet. 2020;395(10235):1481-2.
- 66. Scarlet Alliance. COVID-19 impact and response for sex workers: Statement of impact http://www.scarletalliance.org.au/scarlet/COVID-19/: Scarlet Alliance; [cited 2020 11 June].
- 67. Respect Inc. Sex Work and COVID https://respectqld.org.au/covid/: Respect Qld; [updated 17 April 2020; cited 2020 11 June].
- 68. Scarlet Alliance. Emergency support fund for sex workers in Australia https://chuffed.org/project/emergency-support-sex-workers-australia: Chuffed; [cited 2020 11 June].
- 69. Platt L, Elmes J, Stevenson L, Holt V, Rolles S, Stuart R. Sex workers must not be forgotten in the COVID-19 response. The Lancet. 2020.
- 70. Radio New Zealand. Covid-19: Green light for sex industry to restart https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/national/416803/covid-19-green-light-for-sex-industry-to-restart: RNZ; [updated 16 May 2020; cited 2020 11 June].
- 71. New Zealand Prostitutes' Collective. LEvel 2 sex work can re-open: Guidelines to returning to work in COVID-19 https://www.nzpc.org.nz/COVID-19-Information: NZPC; 2020 [cited 2020 11 June].
- 72. Lubman D, Manning V, Dowling N, Rodda S, Lee S, Garde E, et al. Problem gambling in people seeking treatment for mental illness. Melbourne: Victorian Responsible Gambling Foundation; 2017.
- 73. Brown R, Hickman A. Changes in onling gambling during the COVID-19 pandemic. Statistical Bulletin 25. https://aic.gov.au/publications/sb/sb25: Australian Institute of Criminology; 2020.
- 74. Thompson A. 'Alarming' rise in online gambling has experts worried https://www.smh.com.au/national/alarming-rise-in-online-gambling-has-experts-worried-20200408-p54ics.html. Sydney Morning Herald. 2020 9 April 2020.
- 75. Biddle D, Hawthorne G, Forbes D, Coman G. Problem gambling in Australian PTSD treatment-seeking veterans. Journal of Traumatic Stress. 2005;18(6):759-67.
- 76. Rintoul A, Livingstone C, Mellor A, Jolley. Modelling Vulnerability to Gambling Related Harm: How Disadvantage Predicts Gambling Losses. Addiction Research and Theory. 2012;21(4):329-38.
- 77. Researchers map emerging disadvantage in Australia due to COVID-19 job loss [press release]. https://www.newcastle.edu.au/newsroom/featured/researchers-map-emerging-disadvantage-in-australia-due-to-covid-19-job-loss: University of Newcastle, 19 May 2020.
- 78. Arnup J, Black N, Johnston D. How COVID-19 widens the divide between rich and poor children. https://www2.monash.edu/impact/articles/health-economics/how-covid-19-widens-the-divide-between-rich-and-poor-children/: Monash University; 2020 6 May 2020.
- 79. Markham F, Doran B, Young M. The relationship between electronic gaming machine accessibility and police-recorded domestic violence: A spatio-temporal analysis of 654 postcodes in Victoria, Australia, 2005–2014. Social Science & Medicine. 2016;162:106-14.
- 80. Productivity Commission. Gambling, Report No. 50. Volumes 1 & 2. Canberra: Productivity Commission; 2010.
- 81. Goodwin BC, Browne M, Rockloff M, Rose J. A typical problem gambler affects six others. International Gambling Studies. 2017;17(2):276-89.